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Over a decade ago, IRIS invented proprietary compression techniques to enable a huge amount of data and images to be 
stored onto a contactless chip, an innovative technology that made the world’s first electronic passport possible. Through 
it, we have provided unprecedented convenience and security to travellers all over the world.

Our pioneering technology has also opened more doors that lead to greater efficiency and service quality. We have 
initiated and managed an automated immigration clearance system, the world’s first multi-application smart card and a  
2-hour passport renewal kiosk.

It is our lifelong commitment to enrich communities with creative yet beneficial solutions. Combining both experience and 
insights, we are driving more projects that will enhance the lives of people around the world. Our end-to-end digital identity 
solutions will be our vehicle towards empowering everyone with our continuous technological advantages.
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corporate profile

IRIS Corporation Berhad is a global solutions provider with core expertise in digital identity, business, farming 
and environmental solutions. Incorporated in 1994, IRIS is the first company in Asia to set up fully integrated 
manufacturing facilities for contact and contactless smart cards, contactless document inserts and assembled 
module in tapes and reels. 

IRIS pioneered the world’s first electronic passport and national multi-application identity card with the implementation  
of the Malaysian Electronic Passport in March 1998 and MyKAD - the Malaysian Government multi-application 
identity card in April 2001. These technologies are deployed in many countries across the Asia, Middle East and 
Africa regions.

In 2006, IRIS introduced the AutoPot system, an innovative farming solutions and environmental friendly 
fertigation system designed to supply water and nutrient to the exact needs of a plant. Within the same year, 
IRIS’ environmental solutions were launched with the introduction of a green gas-powered waste disposal system 
capable of environmental-friendly incineration of solid and liquid waste.

IRIS Corporation Berhad is an MSC Status company and is listed on the MESDAQ market of Bursa Malaysia Exchange.

bahamas

senegal

canada
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On behalf of the Board of Directors of IRIS Corporation Berhad (“IRIS”), it is  
with great pleasure that I present to you the Annual Report and Audited Financial 
Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail
chairman

chairman’s statement



Group Results
The year 2008 has been the most successful for 
IRIS to-date as it achieved a record profit before 
tax of RM15.8 million, a 187% increase over the 
previous year’s profit before tax of RM5.5 million. 
This significant improvement is largely due to higher 
profit contributions from e-Passport projects both 
local and overseas and cost reduction measures 
implemented in operations. The outsourcing of the 
IRIS hardware division that develops contact and 
contactless card readers also contributed to the 
increased profits.

Group revenue was up 30% to RM286 million 
from RM219 million due to higher volume sales of 
Malaysian ID cards - MyKad and overseas  
e-Passport projects in Nigeria and Senegal. Our 
strategy to penetrate overseas markets has borne 
fruit with overseas revenue increasing to RM132.7 
million or 47% of total revenue compared with 
RM93.8 million or 43% of total revenue in 2007.

Cash flow from operations improved 94% to RM65.8 
million compared with RM33.9 million in the 
previous year, reflecting the effects of higher profit 
contributions and better operating cash cycle.

Corresponding to the improved performance, profit 
attributable to shareholders grew by 42% to RM10.7 
million, translating to diluted earnings per share of 
0.76 sen as compared with 0.55 sen in the previous 
year. The record profit for 2008 is another milestone 
that IRIS has achieved.
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Farming Solutions
The IRIS AutoPot System (Automatic Pot Growing 
System), is an efficient and environmentally friendly 
“Fertigation” system that leap-frogs conventional 
fertilization and irrigation methods by introducing 
“plant-driven” processes as opposed to “human-
driven” processes.

The revenue of the farming division was up 100% 
to RM1.6 million in comparison with RM0.8 million 
in the previous year. The increase is mainly due to 
the delivery of 68,000 units of AutoPot to Jabatan 
Pertanian Malaysia as well as the sales of AutoPot 
system to the Government of Maldives.

Environmental Solutions
The Environmental solution business started in 
2006 with a vision to help expand the IRIS group 
business portfolio for revenue growth. The strategy 
to venture into the environmental industry was 
largely due to the increasing potential for the global 
environmental market of which the target clients 
(government, municipals) can be leveraged from 
IRIS’s existing and potential clients.

In 2008, this division secured a 2 years service 
contract with Kementerian Dalam Negeri (KDN) for 
the controlled incineration of confiscated religious 
material. The division has also completed the 
installation of a 60 tonne per day Waste-to-Energy 
Plant in Amata Nakorn Industrial Estate in Bangkok. 
This plant is projected to generate revenue in 2009. 

Corporate Developments
Corporate proposals reported during financial year 
under review were:

1.	�O n 30 April 2008, IRIS had entered into a 
Shareholders’ Agreement with EC Switch Sdn 
Bhd (formerly known as ePetrol Development 
Sdn Bhd) to establish a joint venture company, 
I-Kiosk Sdn Bhd.

Operation Reviews
Digital Identity Solutions
It was in 1998 that Malaysia introduced the world’s 
first e-Passport and other countries gradually 
followed. The world experienced a surge in demand 
for e-passports arising from the event of 11 
September 2001. The Keesing Journal* published 
statistics to show that there are approximately 100 
million e-Passports in circulation as at end of 2008. 
It also stated that 94 nations are expected to issue 
e-Passports by 2009 and the cumulative volume will 
further increase to 120 million e-Passports. 

Travelling a successful path has been a hallmark of 
IRIS. We pioneered the world’s first e-Passport that 
provides unprecedented convenience and security 
to travelers. To-date, we have delivered more than 
23.5 million e-passports and its solutions to over 
13 countries across the globe. From the innovation 
of the world’s first automated immigration clearance 
system to the world’s first e-Passport Renewal 
Kiosk, IRIS is still the world pioneer at the helm of 
e-Passport solutions.

The digital identity solution projects already secured 
continued to provide the momentum for IRIS in 
2008. The projects on hand in overseas countries 
such as Senegal, Nigeria, Bahamas, Thailand, 
Cambodia, Turkey, Egypt, Canada and Maldives will 
carry on and keep us busy for 2009. We have signed 
a contract with the Government of Ghana for an e-
Passport system project on Build-Operate-Transfer 
(BOT) basis in 2008 and the project is expected to 
kick off in the last quarter of 2009. 

Business Solutions
Revenue for this division is not significant as there 
were fewer projects in 2008. With the completion 
of the Common Ticketing System for Rapid KL, 
the division is currently partnering with reputable 
transport solution providers to actively bid for a few 
automatic fare collection tenders in the country.

chairman’s statement
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various continents
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2.	�O n 29 May 2008, IRIS had incorporated a 75%-
owned subsidiary in Egypt, IRIS EGYPT (“IE”). 
The authorized and issued paid-up capital of IE 
is EGP300,000.00. IE was formed to facilitate 
IRIS’s operation and business opportunities in 
Egypt and the Middle East.

3.	�O n 16 May 2008, the Board had announced that 
the application to the Securities Commission and 
Foreign Investment Committee on the Proposed 
Private Placement of up to 155,431,281 new 
ordinary shares of RM0.15 each in representing 
up to ten percent (10%) of the issued and paid-up 
share capital of the company to investors to be 
identified has been approved.

�	�O n 30 October 2008, Securities Commission 
had vide its letter approved the extension of 
time up to 15 May 2009 for the company to 
implement the Proposed Private Placement. 
As at 15 April 2009, the Proposed Private 
Placement is pending implementation.

4.	�O n 6 June 2008, ICB’s wholly-owned subsidiary IRIS 
Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd (“IRIS Tech”), Dibena 
Enterprise Sdn Bhd, TricubesNCR JV Sdn Bhd and 
Unisys MSC Sdn Bhd have entered into a Sale and 
Purchase agreement with the existing shareholder, 
namely CSA MSC Sdn Bhd to collectively acquire 
1,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each in GMPC, 
representing 20% equity interest in GMPC for a 
purchase consideration of RM2.00.

	� IRIS Tech’s shareholding in GMPC was increased 
to 25% from 20% upon completion of this 
acquisition.

5.	�O n 6 October 2008, IRIS had passed a resolution 
for a member’s voluntary winding up of Asiatronics 
Sdn Bhd and TL Automation Electronics (M) Sdn 
Bhd, being 80% and 75% owned-subsidiaries of 
IRIS respectively.
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6.	�O n 11 July 2007, IRIS announced that its wholly 
owned subsidiary IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn 
Bhd accepted a conditional letter of offer issued 
by Mapletree Industrial Fund Management Pte 
Ltd for the proposed disposal and leaseback 
of the IRIS Smart Complex at Technology Park 
Malaysia. Both companies have mutually agreed 
to extend the period to negotiate on the terms of 
the definitive Sale and Purchase Agreement to 
18 June 2009.

Awards and Recognition
IRIS emerged as a winner in Asia Pacific Frost & 
Sullivan Enabling Technology Award 2008 in the 
e-Passport Smart Card Market and Malaysian 
Best Overall Award 2008 from Malaysian Trade 
and Industry Organisation. The awards were in 
recognition of our outstanding performance in the 
digital security solutions industry.

The Board
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am very 
pleased to welcome Mr. Chan Feoi Chun as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director. 

Mr. Chan is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, UK and a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is currently 
employed as the Chief Executive Officer of Swiss-
Garden International Vacation Club Bhd and given his 
wealth of experience both local and overseas, will 
further contribute to the ongoing success of the Group.

Special Thanks
The financial achievement for the year and continued 
success of the Group would not have been possible 
without the dedication and commitment of the 
Board of Directors, Management Team and Staff 
of IRIS. I would also like to express our thanks to 
our customers, government authorities, business 
partners, shareholders and other stakeholders for 
their continued support and confidence in IRIS.

* �Keesing Journal of Documents & Identity is an authoritative 
magazine for professionals active in the document security and 
identity verification sectors



IRIS is the technology solutions provider and Intellectual Property owner with 
key solutions in National Identity Systems (E-Passport, E-ID, E-Driving License,  
E-visa, etc). In addition, IRIS’ end-to-end solutions comprise System Integration, 
Technology Consultancy, Solution Design, Development and Implementation and 
Maintenance & Support.
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Description	 2008	 2007	 2006	 2005	 2004
	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ’000

Revenue	 285,600	 219,529	 234,881	 299,782	 222,562

Profit/(Loss) before taxation	 15,838	 5,516	 6,693	 7,235	 (10,978)
Profit/(Loss) after taxation	 10,632	 7,528	 4,768	 7,386	 (10,978)

Share capital	 216,416	 216,416	 196,886	 137,101	 125,101
Reserves	 61,870	 50,799	 33,044	 27,097	 19,451

Shareholders’ equity	 278,286	 267,215	 229,930	 164,198	 144,552
Current liabilities	 165,877	 119,579	 139,239	 141,992	 113,810
Non-current liabilities	 116,924	 140,724	 174,159	 181,508	 188,500
Total equity and liabilities	 561,087	 527,518	 543,328	 487,698	 446,862

Non-current assets	 286,166	 292,391	 279,148	 263,403	 257,170	
Current assets	 274,921	 235,127	 264,180	 224,295	 189,692
Total assets	 561,087	 527,518	 543,328	 487,698	 446,862

Pre-tax profit margin (%)	 5.55	 2.51	 2.85	 2.41	 (4.93)
Post-tax profit margin (%)	 3.72	 3.43	 2.03	 2.46	 (4.93) 
Basic earnings per share (sen)	 0.78	 0.60	 0.47	 0.86	 (1.32)
Net assets per share (sen)	 19.81	 19.52	 19.85	 17.97	 17.33
Total borrowings to equity ratio (times)	 0.66	 0.74	 1.01	 1.39	 1.58
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corporate information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail 
Chairman, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku 
Besar Burhanuddin 
Vice Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Tan Say Jim 
Managing Director

Lee Kwee Hiang 
Executive Director

Yap Hock Eng 
Executive Director

Eow Kwan Hoong 
Executive Director

Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md Noor 
Executive Director

Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin Syed abdul Kadir 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Chan Feoi Chun 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abd Aziz 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE
YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku 
Besar Burhanuddin
Chairman

Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir 

Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib  

Chan Feoi Chun 

COMPANY SECRETARies
Eow Kwan Hoong (MIA 3184)
Ng Yen Hoong (LS 008016)
Loo Choon Keow (MAICSA 7039252)

AUDITORS
Messrs Horwath 
Level 16, Tower C
Megan Avenue II
12 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel:	 +603 2166 0000
Fax:	 +603 2166 1000

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 18, The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel:	 +603 2264 8888
Fax:	 +603 2282 2733

CORPORATE OFFICE
IRIS Smart Technology Complex
Technology Park Malaysia
Bukit Jalil
57000 Kuala Lumpur
Tel:	 +603 8996 0788
Fax:	 +603 8996 0442
Website: www.iris.com.my

SHARE REGISTRAR
Epsilon Registration Services Sdn Bhd
Level 17, The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel:	 +603 2264 3883
Fax:	 +603 2282 1886

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
EON Bank Berhad
AmBank (M) Berhad 
Export-Import Bank of Malaysia Berhad (EXIM)
Malaysia Debt Ventures Berhad 
CIMB Bank Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Mesdaq Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
Stock Code: 0010
Stock name: IRIS



corporate structure

100%
IRIS Technologies (M) 
Sdn Bhd

100%
Capillary Agrotech 
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

100%
IRIS Corporation 
North America

100%
TL Technology 
Research (Australia) 
Pty Ltd*

80%
Asiatronics Sdn 
Bhd*

75%
TL Automation 
Electronics (M) Sdn 
Bhd*

75%
IRIS Egypt LLC

44.4%
Multimedia Display 
Technologies Sdn 
Bhd

30%
Paysys (M) Sdn Bhd

100%
IRIS Information 
Technology Systems 
Sdn Bhd

51%
Versatile P4 Power 
Resources Sdn Bhd

25%
GMPC Corporation 
Sdn Bhd

20%
Loyalty Wizards  
Sdn Bhd

iris
corporation
berhad

Note:	
* Company is under creditors’ / members’ voluntary winding up
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travelling a successful path:
world’s first autogate 
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immigration 
clearance



the innovativeness of iris and its creation of a novel system such as the autogate 
has assisted governments to expedite clearance processes and ensures the 
highest level of vigilance especially at critical entry or exit points by monitoring 
the influx and outflow of travelers. the system automatically detects fraudulent 
travel documents and those placed under the watch list.



Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail 
Chairman,  
Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

A Malaysian aged 70, was 
appointed to the Board on 2 
May 2002. He graduated with 
a Bachelor of Arts Degree from 
University of Malaya in 1962. 
He has an extensive experience 
gained in the Malaysian 
Diplomatic Services, which he 
has served over 35 years until his 
retirement in 1998. He was last 
appointed Malaysia’s Permanent 
Representative to the United 
Nations in New York and he was 
also the UN Secretary-General’s 
Special Envoy for Myanmar from 
April 2000 to December 2005.

He is currently the Pro Chancellor 
of the University Science Malaysia, 
Chairman of the National Peace 
Volunteer Corp (Yayasan Salam), 
President of World Wildlife Fund 
Malaysia and advises on a 
government supported project 
on street and displaced children. 
He is the Special Envoy of the 
Malaysian Prime Minister to 
facilitate assistance for natural 
disaster victims.

profile of directors

He is also a director of Leader 
Universal Holdings Berhad, 
Allianz General Insurance 
Malaysia Berhad, Plus 
Expressway Berhad and several 
private limited companies.
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YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin 
Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin, D.K, 
S.P.T.J., AO (Australia)
Vice Chairman,  
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 73 was 
appointed to the Board on 11 
February 1998. He graduated with 
a Bachelor of Science (Economics) 
from Queens University of 
Northern Ireland.

He began his career with Esso 
Malaysia Limited as an economic 
analyst and moved on as a 
Finance Manager in one of the 
finance company within Malayan 
Banking Group. Currently, he is the 
Executive Chairman and co-founder 
of Kompakar which is a leading 
technology provider offering 
scalable integrated solutions that 
has been instrumentally localised 
and expanding to countries in the 
Asia Pacific region. 

Amongst the accolades 
bestowed on Tunku were the 
Austrade International Award 
2000 Australian Export Awards 
for outstanding contribution to 
Australia’s international trading 
performance by a foreign individual 
based outside of Australia, the 
“Darjah Seri Paduka Tuanku 
Ja’afar Yang Amat Terpuji (S.P.T.J)” 
by his Royal Highness The 
Yang Di-Pertuan Besar Negeri 
Sembilan and the appointment 
as an Honorary Officer (AO) in the 
General Division of the Order of 
Australia award for his service 
to Australian-Malaysian relations 
by the Governor-General of the 
Commonwealth of Australia.

He is now a director and a 
shareholder of DHL Worldwide 
Express (M) Sdn Bhd, Jotun (M) Sdn 
Bhd, Totaliser Board of Malaysia, 
Selangor Turf Club and the Malaysia 
Australia Business Council.

YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri 
Shahabuddin currently serves as 
the Chairman of Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee. 

Dato’ Tan Say Jim
Managing Director
 
A Malaysian aged 51, was 
appointed to the Board on 30 
June 1996. He is the co-founder 
and the Managing Director 
of IRIS Corporation Berhad. 
He is an associate member 
of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, UK. 

He began his career with UMW 
Holdings Berhad and he was the 
Group Finance Manager when he 
left the company in 1986.

Prior to joining IRIS Corporation 
Berhad, he was with Lion Group 
as the Group Treasurer, a post he 
held till 1997.

In 2006, he was awarded the 
“Technopreneur of the Year” at 
the PIKOM National ICT Awards, 
as one of the outstanding ICT 
entrepreneurs in Malaysia. 

Lee Kwee Hiang
Executive Director

A Malaysian aged 60, was 
appointed to the Board on 31 
May 1994. He is one of the 
co-founder of IRIS Corporation 
Berhad. He is primarily 
responsible for the Research 
and Development as well as 
the Manufacturing of IRIS 
Corporation Berhad. 

He began his career in 1969 
with Royal Malaysia Air Force 
in computer and electronics 
division. In 1974, he joined DE 
Electronic & Computer Sdn Bhd 
as the Managing Director, a post 
he held till 1984. He started 
up Microcomputer Systems (M) 
Sdn Bhd in 1985 where he is 
primarily responsible in helping 
Microcomputer to obtain the first 
computer manufacturing license 
with pioneer status with its first 
launched Malaysian designed PC 
in 1987.

In 1989, its Microsystem 386sx 
computer was awarded “PIKOM 
PRODUCT OF THE YEAR.” He 
was a member of the R&D 
committee which designed and 
produced the ATOM 1 for the 
Malaysian Ministry of Education. 
The first batch of ATOM 1 was 
subsequently installed in 60 pilot 
schools throughout the country 
under the Computer in Education 
programme.

In 1993, Microcomputer was 
merged with LIKOM Corporation, 
accompany under Lion Group and 
he is the Executive Director till 
1994 after which he set up his 
own consultancy business named 
Power Metric Consultant Sdn 
Bhd, where he remains a director 
until present.

In appreciation for his 
contributions to the IT industry, 
he was awarded the “PIKOM-
Computime IT Personality of the 
Year” in 1991 and in October 
2006, he was honoured with 
the “PIKOM Key Industry Leader 
Award”.
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Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md. 
Noor
Executive Director

A Malaysian aged 49, was 
appointed to the Board on 10 
Dec 2004. He graduated with a 
Bachelor of Economics (Hons.) 
from University of Malaya in 1983.

He began his career with Bank 
Bumiputra (M) Berhad, starting 
from Assistant Accountant and 
moving his way up to Entrepreneur 
Development Officer and to 
Special Assistant to Executive 
Chairman in 1985. He joined 
BBMB Securities Sdn Bhd as a 
Dealer Representative in 1988 and 
later joined SJ Securities Sdn Bhd 
as a Remisier in 1990. He served 
as the Chairman of National 
Sports Complex, Bukit Jalil from 
2000 till 2003.  

He was actively involved in 
voluntary bodies, being the 
advisor for Tanah Merah 
Entrepreneur Club as well as the 
Charity and Sports Club. 

He is currently a director of 
Versatile Creative Berhad and 
several private limited companies.

Eow Kwan Hoong
Executive Director

A Malaysian aged 55, was appointed 
to the Board on 2 May 2002. 

He is a fellow member of the 
Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants, UK and a member of 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 
He is the Immediate Past President 
of the CIMA Malaysia Division.

He began his career as a Cost 
Accountant with Intel Technology 
Sdn Bhd in 1979. He later joined 
Socoil Corporation Sdn Bhd as 
the Factory Accountant in 1980. 
In 1982, he joined Lion Group as 
Accounts Manager and moved his 
way up to Group Chief Accountant 
after serving seventeen years in the 
Group. He then left and joined IRIS 
Corporation Berhad in 1998 as the 
Chief Operating Officer.

He is currently a Director of 
Versatile Creative Berhad, 
Silverstone Corporation Berhad, 
Delloyd Ventures Berhad and 
several private limited companies.

Mr. Eow is currently a member of 
the Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee.   

Yap Hock Eng
Executive Director

A Malaysian aged 63, was 
appointed to the Board on 5 
January 1995. He is a co-founder 
and is heavily involved in technical 
and technology matters for IRIS 
Corporation Berhad. 

He established Peripherals 
Connection (UK) Ltd and Supply 
Technology (UK) Ltd in 1984 
and 1985 where these two 
companies are heavily involved 
in the import and trading of 
personal computers based 
system components. He started 
another company named MCS 
Microsystems, Ltd in UK in 1991. 

In 1992, he refocused the strategy 
of supply technology and targeting 
the global security markets by 
designing and developing a unique 
form of identification technology 
for sophisticated and enhanced 
security applications. This solution 
has become well-known as the 
Image Retrieval and Identification 
Systems (I.R.I.S.).
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Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 55, was 
appointed to the Board in  
7 May 1998. He graduated with  
a Bachelor of Science 
(Engineering Production) and 
a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Economics) Double Degree from 
University of Birmingham, United 
Kingdom in 1977.

He has 10 years of vast 
experience in banking and 
financial services with Bumiputra 
Merchant Bankers, holding the 
position of General Manager 
immediately prior to his 
departure from the bank. He 
then left in 1994 to join Amanah 
Capital Partners Berhad, a public 
listed subsidiaries involved in, 
inter alia, discount house, money 
broking, unit trusts, finance and 
fund management operations, a 
post he held as General Manager 
till February 1996.

He also serves on the Board of 
YTL Corporation Berhad, YTL 
Power International Berhad, YTL 
E-Solutions Berhad, Versatile 
Creative Berhad and Stenta Films 
(M) Sdn Bhd.

Syed Abdullah currently is a 
member of Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee.
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Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 51, was 
appointed to the Board on 6 
November 2003. He graduated 
with Bachelor of Science Degree 
in Mathematics from University of 
Salford, United Kingdom.

He started his career with 
a leading Merchant Bank in 
Malaysia and subsequently he  
served as a Director for several 
Companies listed on Bursa 
Malaysia and private companies. 
He has gained considerable 
experience by serving on the 
Board of Companies listed on 
the Stock Exchange of India 
and Nasdaq in United States of 
America as well.

He is currently the director and 
shareholder of Malaysian Pacific 
Corporation Berhad and several 
private limited companies.

Datuk Kamaruddin currently 
serves as member of Audit 
Committee.
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DATO’ SYED ABDUL RAHMAN BIN 
SYED ABDUL KADIR
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 61, was 
appointed to the Board on 27 
January 2003. He graduated 
with a Master Degree in Public 
Administration from University of 
Malaya, B.A (Hons) University of 
Science, Malaysia and a Diploma 
in Public Administration from 
University of Malaya.

He began his career as a 
Probationary Inspector with 
Royal Malaysian Police Force in 
1969 and appointed to Deputy 
Commissioner of Police in 1997. 
He retired from the Police Force 
in 2002 after served as the 
Chief Police Officer in Pahang, 
Sarawak, Perak and Kuala 
Lumpur over 33 years of loyal 
service.
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He has attended several 
management courses and was 
thoroughly exposed in corporate 
management of private sector 
through British Malaysian 
Industry Trade Association 
program.

In appreciation for his services 
to the nation and society, the 
State and Federal Governments 
have conferred him with various 
awards and accolades.
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Chan Feoi Chun
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 56, was 
appointed to the Board on 23 
January 2009. He graduated 
with a Master of Business 
Studies (Banking & Finance) 
from University of College Dublin, 
Ireland and graduate from 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators UK. 

He is a fellow member 
of Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, UK 
and a member of Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants. He is 
the Deputy President of CIMA 
Malaysia Division and Chairman 
of the Student Development 
Committee presently.

He has gained extensive 
experience for 25 years from the 
international working experience 
in Britain and Thailand in the 
areas of financial management 
and business re-engineering. 

Prior to joining IRIS Corporation 
Berhad, he held senior 
management positions in 
financial services Group of MBF 
Holdings and various senior 
positions in PJD Berhad Group of 
Companies. 

Currently, he is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Swiss Garden 
International Vacation Club 
Berhad and a director of Perisai 
Petroleum Teknologi Berhad.

Mr. Chan currently serves as 
member of Audit Committee.

Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abdul Aziz 
Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director

A Malaysian aged 53, was 
appointed to the Board on 3 
March 2008. He graduated with 
a Bachelor of Science (Finance) 
Degree from Louisiana State 
University, USA.

He has vast experience of 22 
years in international finance, 
banking and financial markets 
especially in treasury, direct 
investment, corporate banking 
and finance such as offshore 
financing and capital markets. 
The experience he gained is 
from the positions he held as 
a Managing Director of Bank 
Islam, a Chief Operating Officer 
of Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange, 
a Director General of Labuan 
Offshore Financial Services and 
in Citigroup for Malaysia, New 
York, London, Hong Kong and 
Singapore.

He is currently the Managing 
Director of Fajr Capital PLC. 
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Note:	

1.	� Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors have any family relationship with any other 
directors and/or other major shareholders of the Company.

2.	� None of the Directors have conflict of interest with the Company.
3.	� None of the Directors has been convicted of any offence within the past ten years other than 

traffic offences, if any.
4.	� The attendance of the Directors at Board of Directors’ Meetings is disclosed in Corporate 

Governance Statement.



calendar of events

corporate events
22 January 2008
Egovernment Roundtable forum 2008
Venue: Ritz Carlton, Manama, Bahrain

25 & 26 February 2008
Citizen Id Forum Conference 2008
Venue: Abu Dhabi, Rotana Beach Hotel & Towers

4-9 March 2008
CEBIT 2008
Venue: Hannover, Germany

19-22 May 2008
World Congress On It (Wcit) 2008
Venue: Kuala Lumpur Convention Center (KLCC), 
Malaysia

25-27 May 2008
CARDEX 2008
Venue: Cairo International Convention Center (CICC), 
Egypt

2-5 June 2008
Bali Process
People Smuggling: Threat Assessment And 
Risk Analysis 2008
Venue: Hilton Hotel, Kuala Lumpur

6-8 October 2008
International Civil Aviation Organisation 
(Icao) Summit 
Venue: ICAO HQ, Montreal, Canada

3-6 November 2008
Director General Immigration Committee 
Meeting (Dgicm)
Venue: Equatorial Hotel, Kuala Lumpur

26 November 2008
The launching of iris Mobile Enrolment Unit 
(Meu) at mydaftar 2008
Venue: International Youth Center, Cheras,  
Kuala Lumpur

24-28 November 2008
Department Of Civil Aviation (Dca)  
Exhibition 2008
Venue: Kuala Lumpur Convention Center (KLCC),
Malaysia
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corporate/VIP visits 
January 2008
03 	 ~ �PJT Technology Co. Ltd & Bangkok Bus Rapid 

Transit (BRT)
09	 ~ Jabatan Agama Islam Selangor (JAIS) 
28&29 	~ �The Registration, Insolvency, Trusteeship 

Agency of the United Republic of Tanzania 
(RITA)

 
February 2008
04 	 ~ Prime Minister’s Office Officials
26 	 ~ �Dr. Hameed, Advanced Business Center, 

Bahrain 
 
March 2008
05 	 ~ �National ID Study Tour by The Ministry 

of Local Government, Good Governance, 
Community Development and Social Affairs of 
the Republic of Rwanda

 
April 2008 
17-19 	 ~ Vmicro & Vietnam Police (GTEL)
 
May 2008
22 	 ~ �Information Technology Development Agency 

(ITIDA) & National Telecommunication 
Regulation Organisation (NTRO) Egypt

 
June 2008
02 	 ~ �H.E. Penehupifo Pohamba, First Lady of the 

Republic of Namibia
06 	 ~ �JiLin Provincial Government & JiLin Bank of 

China
09-15 	 ~ Bhutan Delegation

July 2008
08 	 ~ Study tour by Government of Lesotho
16 	 ~ �The Honorable Minister Akwasi Osei-Adjei, 

Minister of Foreign Affairs, Republic of Ghana
 
September 2008 
03 	 ~ �Delegation from Egypt 
 
October 2008 
11-15 	 ~ Delegation from Iran
 
November 2208 
03 	 ~ �The Honorable Mr. K.T. Hammond, Deputy 

Minister of Interior, Republic of Ghana 
 
December 2008
05 	 ~ �H.R.H. Princess Ashi Pem Pem Wangchuck, 

Royal Princess of the Kingdom of Bhutan
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Another first in the world: Kippas is an automated passport renewal kiosk 
specially designed for immigration offices. The patent pending technology is the 
world’s first, state-of-the-art kiosk for passport renewal. The objective of the 
kippas is to help immigration departments to build a better relationship with the 
public. At the same time it helps to migrate more transactions to a more cost and 
time effective channel.



travelling a successful path:
world’s first passport renewal kiosk (kippas) 

 

2-hour 
passport 
renewal 
system
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The Board of Directors is fully committed to maintain high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group to 
safeguard and promote the interests of the shareholders and to enhance the long term value of the Group. The Board 
considers that it has adopted and complied with the principles and best practices as set out in the Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance.

The following is the statement explaining how the Group has applied the principles and complied with the best practices 
provisions laid out in the Code throughout the twelve months ended 31 December 2008.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is responsible for determining the long term direction and strategy of the Group, create value for shareholders, 
monitor the achievement of business objectives, ensure that good corporate governance is practiced and to ensure that 
the Group meets its other responsibility. The Board is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate processes are in 
place in respect of succession planning for appointments to the Board and to senior management positions.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Where appropriate, the Board has delegated certain responsibilities to the various Board Committees with clearly 
defined terms of reference.

The following Board Committees with the respective functions have been set up to assist the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities:

Type of Committee	P rincipal Functions	M embers	 Status

Audit 	T o review and report on 	Y AM Tunku Dato’ Seri 	 Independent Non-Executive
Committee	 the Group’s results,  	 Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar 	
	 accounting and 	 Burhanuddin - Chairman
	 audit procedures
		  Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 Independent Non-Executive

		  Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 Independent Non-Executive

		  Chan Feoi Chun	 Independent Non-Executive
 

Nomination 	T o recommend to the	Y AM Tunku Dato’ Seri	 Independent Non-Executive
Committee	 Board on all new 	 Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar
	 Board appointments	 Burhanuddin - Chairman

		  Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 Independent Non-Executive

		  Eow Kwan Hoong	 Executive Director
 

Remuneration 	T o recommend to the	Y AM Tunku Dato’ Seri	 Independent Non-Executive
Committee	 Board the Directors’ 	 Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar
	 remuneration	 Burhanuddin - Chairman

		  Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 Independent Non-Executive

		  Eow Kwan Hoong	 Executive Director
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The Board has twelve (12) directors, comprising two Non Independent Non-Executive Directors including the Chairman, 
five Executive Directors, and five Independent Non-Executive Directors. The number of independent directors is in 
compliance with Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) which requires one 
third of the Board to comprise independent directors.

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director have been clearly segregated to ensure a balance of power and 
authority. The Independent Directors are not related to the major shareholders and the management of the Company, 
and are free from any relationship that could interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement or the ability 
to act in the best interest of the Company. In any case, if there is concern from any party on Board matters, it can be 
directed to any one of the Independent Directors. 

The Directors are from various professions and bring to the Board a wide range of experience, skills and knowledge that 
are necessary to direct and manage successfully the business and affairs of the Group towards enhancing business 
prosperity and corporate accountability. Please refer to the profiles of the directors of the Board, as set out on pages 20 
to 25. 

SUPPLY OF INFORMATION AND BOARD MEETINGS
The Board and its Committees are supplied with full and timely information which enables them to discharge their 
responsibilities. The agenda for each meeting, together with the detailed reports and supplementary papers are 
circulated to the Directors in advance of the meetings. 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Board met four (4) times, where it deliberated and considered 
a variety of matters affecting the Group’s operations including the Group’s financial results, business plan and the 
direction of the Group. Management and performance of the Group and any other strategic issues that may affect the 
Group’s businesses are also deliberated.

Details of attendance of each Director who was in office during the financial year ended 31 December 2008 are as follows:

Directors	T otal Meetings Attended By Director

Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail 	 4/4
YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 3/4
Dato’ Tan Say Jim	 4/4
Lee Kwee Hiang	 4/4
Yap Hock Eng	 4/4
Eow Kwan Hoong	 4/4
Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md Noor	 4/4
Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 4/4
Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin Syed Abdul Kadir	 4/4
Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 3/4
Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abd Aziz (appointed on 3 March 2008)	 3/3
Chan Feoi Chun (appointed on 23 January 2009)	 0/0

APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee consists of two (2) independent non-executive directors and one (1) executive director. 
The Committee is empowered by the Board and its terms of reference to bring to the Board recommendations as to 
the appointment of new Directors. The Committee also assesses the Board’s effectiveness, its committees and the 
contribution of each individual Director on an annual basis.

The Committee also keeps under review the Board structure, size and composition.

APPOINTMENT PROCESS
The Board through the Nomination Committee’s annual appraisal believes that the current composition of the Board 
brings the required mix of skills and core competencies required for the Board to discharge its duties effectively.
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The Board appoints its members through a formal and transparent selection process which is consistent with Articles 
of Association of the Company. This process has been reviewed, approved and adopted by the Board. New appointees 
will be considered and evaluated by the Nomination Committee. The Committee will then recommend the candidates to 
be approved and appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary will ensure that all appointments are properly made, 
and that legal and regulatory obligations are met.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
All the Directors of the Company have completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme prescribed by Bursa Malaysia. 
During the year, they received briefings and updates on the Group businesses, operations, risk management, internal 
controls, finance and any new or changes to the companies and other relevant legislation, rules and regulations. 

The Directors are encouraged to attend briefing, conferences, forums, trade fairs (locally and internationally), seminars 
and training to keep abreast with the latest developments in the industry and to enhance their skills and knowledge. 

Amongst the training and seminar courses attended by some directors were as follows:
•	 Key Corporate Disclosure and Transaction
•	 Improving Board Directors’ Performance, Leadership & Governance
•	 Business Performance Management/Updates on Corporate Governance and Risk Management
•	 Regulation of the Securities Market – Insider Trading, False Trading & Market Rigging
•	 Malaysian Code on Take Overs and Mergers: Issues and Challenges
•	 Strategy Execution and Leadership in Today’s Uncertain Times

Dato’ Tan Say Jim, YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin, Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md 
Noor, Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir, Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib and Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abdul Aziz did not attend 
any relevant training and seminar courses during the year is due to their hectic travelling schedule throughout the year. 
The Directors will undertake to attend relevant trainings and seminars courses in 2009 to continue enhancing their 
skills and knowledge for the purpose of discharging their duties and responsibilities.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
In accordance to the Company’s Articles of Association, all newly appointed Directors shall retire from office but 
shall be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The Articles further provide that in every 
subsequent year, one-third of the Directors shall retire and be eligible for re-election provided always that all Directors 
except a Managing Director appointed for a fixed period pursuant to the Articles shall retire once at least in each three 
(3) years but shall be eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the remuneration framework for Directors 
as well as the remuneration packages of Executive Directors.

The policy practised on Directors’ remuneration by the Remuneration Committee is to provide the remuneration 
packages necessary to attract, retain and motivate Directors of the quality required to manage the business of the 
Company and to align the interest of the Directors with those of the shareholders.

REMUNERATION PACKAGE
The Company has complied with the Listing Requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on the disclosure of 
remuneration of Directors on Group basis for the financial year ended 31 December 2008 are set out as follows:

Aggregate Remuneration

				E    xecutive Directors	  Non-Executive Directors      
                                                                    	  RM	RM

Basic salaries, bonus and allowances	 1,376,850	 -
Defined contribution plan                                                     	 148,272	 -    
Benefits-in-kind                                             	  36,829	 -
Fees                                                  	   644,000	 435,800
TOTAL                                                	 2,205,951	 435,800
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Analysis of Remuneration

Range of Remuneration	E xecutive	N on-Executive

RM1 – RM50,000		  4          
RM50,001 – RM100,000		  1
RM150,001 – RM200,000
RM200,001 – RM300,000	 1	  1
RM300,001 – RM400,000	 1
RM400,001 – RM500,000 	 1          
RM500,001 and above 	 2          

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS
INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION
The Company is committed to maintain good communications with shareholders and investors. Communication is 
facilitated by a number of formal channels used to inform shareholders about the performance of the Group. These 
include the Annual Report and Accounts and announcements made through Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, as 
well as through the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders, investors and analysts are kept abreast with the major 
developments of the Group through the various means of communications as follows:
•	 Quarterly financial statements and annual report
•	 Announcements on major developments made to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
•	 Company’s general meetings
•	 Company’s web site at http://www.iris.com.my

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)
The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with public shareholders. Shareholders have the opportunity to ask 
questions on resolutions being proposed, the audited financial statement of the year and the operation of the 
Company and the Group. Notice of the AGM is circulated at least 21 days before the meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board aims to ensure that the quarterly reports, annual audited financial statements as well as the annual 
review of operations in the Annual Report reflect full, fair and accurate recording and reporting of financial and 
business information in accordance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia. The Directors are also 
required by the Companies Act, 1965 to prepare the Group’s annual audited financial statements with all material 
disclosures such that they are complete, accurate and in conformance with the applicable accounting standards and 
rules and regulations. The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the financial reporting process.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and the Group’s assets by identifying principal risks and ensuring the implementation of appropriate 
systems to manage these risk; and reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the internal control system

The Board seeks regular assurance on the effectiveness of the internal control system through independent appraisals 
by the internal and external auditors.

The Statement on Internal Controls provides an overview of the state of internal controls within the Group and is set 
out on pages 37 to 38.

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AUDITORS
The Board through the Audit Committee has an appropriate and transparent relationship with the external auditors. 
From time to time, the external auditors highlight and update to the Board and Audit Committee on matters that require 
their attention.
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OBJECTIVES
Audit Committee is established to support and advise the Company’s Board of Director in relation to the IRIS Group of 
companies. The primary objectives of the audit committee are set out as below:

1.	�P rovide assistance to the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to the corporate accounting and 
practices for the Group.

2.	� Improve the Group’s business efficiency, the quality of the accounting function, the system of internal controls and 
audit function and strengthen the confidence of the public in the Group’s reported results.

3.	� Maintain through regularly scheduled meetings, a direct line of communication between the Board and the external 
auditors as well as the internal auditors.

4.	� Enhance the independence of both the external and internal auditors function through active participation in the 
audit process.

5.	� Strengthen the role of the independent Directors by giving them a greater depth of knowledge as to the operations 
of the Company and the Group through their participation in the Committee.

6.	� Act upon the Board of Directors’ request to investigate and report on any issues or concerns in regard to the 
management of the Group.

7.	 Create a climate of discipline and control which will reduce opportunity to fraud.

COMPOSITION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board of Directors shall appoint the members of the Audit Committee from amongst themselves, which fulfills the 
following requirements:

a)	�T he Audit Committee shall be composed of no fewer than three (3) members, whom shall be non-executive 
directors.

b)	 A majority of the Audit Committee must be independent directors.
c)	T he chairman of the Audit Committee shall be an independent non-executive director.
d)	T he audit committee shall be financially literate.
e)	 At least one member of the Audit Committee:
	 i)	 must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA); or
	 ii)	� if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three (3) years working 

experience and:
		  a)	� he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; 

or
		  b)	� he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the 1st Schedule of 

the Accountants Act 1967.
	 iii)	 Fulfills such other requirements as prescribed or approved by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Board must ensure that no alternate Director is appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

In the event of any vacancy in the Audit Committee, the Company shall fill in the vacancy within two (2) months, but in 
any case not later than three (3) months. Thereafter a member of the Audit Committee who wishes to retire or resign 
should provide sufficient written notice to the Company so that a replacement may be appointed before he leaves.

The term of office and performance of the Audit Committee and of its members shall be reviewed by the Board at least 
once every three (3) years.

COMMITTEE MEETINGS
a)	�T he committee shall meet at least four (4) times in a year or more frequently as circumstances required with due 

notice of issues to be discussed and shall record its conclusions in discharging its duties and responsibilities.
b)	T here should be at least two meetings with the external auditors without the executive director present.
c)	�T he quorum for any meeting shall be at least two (2) members where a majority of members present must be 

independent directors.
d)	�U pon the request of any member of the Committee, the external auditors or the internal auditors, the Chairman 

of the Committee shall convene a meeting of the Committee to consider matters which should be brought to the 
attention of the directors or shareholders.

e)	�T he external auditors and internal auditors have the right to appear and be heard at any meeting of the Committee 
and shall appear before the Committee when required to do so by the Committee.
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f)	�T he Committee may invite any Board member or any member of management or any employee of the Company 
whom the Committee thinks fit to attend its meetings, assist and provide pertinent information as necessary. 

g)	�T he Company must ensure that other directors and employee attend any particular Audit Committee meeting only 
at the Audit Committee’s invitation, specific to the relevant meeting.

h)	T he Company Secretary or other appropriate senior official shall be the Secretary to the Audit Committee.

AUTHORITIES
The Audit Committee is fully authorized by the Board to independently investigate without interference from any party 
any matter within its terms of reference at the cost of the Company. It shall have:

i)	� full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company and the Group in the course of performing 
its duties.

ii)	� direct communication channels with the external and internal auditors or person (s) carrying out the internal audit 
function.

iii)	 full access to any employee or member of the management; and
iv)	 the resources, which are required to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee also have authority to obtain external legal or other independent professional advice and to 
secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise it considers necessary and reasonable for 
the performance of its duties.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The Audit Committee is to be provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties. All members of the Audit 
Committee must be able to read, analyse and interpret financial statements. In fulfilling its primary objectives, the Audit 
Committee will need to undertake inter-alia the following function:

1.	T o review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors:

	 a)	 the nomination of external auditors
	 b)	� the adequacy of existing external auditors audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and 

quality of the audit
	 c)	� the effectiveness and adequacy of the scope, functions, resources and competency of the internal audit 

functions and ensure that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work.
	 d)	 in relation to the internal audit function:
		  •	 t�he internal audit programme and results of the internal audit process and where necessary, ensure that 

appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of the internal auditors
		  •	 any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function
		  •	 approve any appointment or termination of the internal auditors; and
		  •	� take cognizance of resignation of internal auditors and provide the resigning internal auditors an opportunity 

to submit reasons for resigning
	 e)	 the financial statements of the Company with both  the external auditors and management.
	 f)	 the external auditors’ audit report.
	 g)	� any management letter sent by the external auditors to the Company and the management’s  response to such 

letter.
	 h)	 any letter of resignation from the Company’s external auditors.
	 i)	 the quarterly and year end financial statements of the Group and thereafter submit to the Board.
	 j)	 the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditors.
	 k)	 all areas of significant financial risk and the arrangements in place to contain those risks to acceptable levels
	 l)	� all related party transactions and potential conflict of interests situations that may arise within the Company or 

Group.

2.	�T o consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fee and any questions of resignation or dismissal 
and on whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s external auditors is not 
suitable for re-appointment.

3.	�T o carry out any other function that may be mutually agreed upon by the Committee and the Board, which would be 
beneficial to the Company and ensure the effective discharge of the Committee’s duties and responsibilities.
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4. 	�T he Committee’s actions shall be reported to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the Committee 
deems appropriate.

MEMBERSHIP AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETING
The present members of the Audit Committee comprise four (4) Board members and the current composition is set out 
as follows:

YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 Chairman
				    Independent Non-Executive Director

Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 Member
				    Independent Non-Executive Director

Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 Member
				    Independent Non-Executive Director

Chan Feoi Chun	 Member
(Appointed as Member on 23 January 2009)	 Independent Non-Executive Director

The details of attendance as at 31 December 2008 as set out below:

Name of Audit Committee	T otal meetings attended by members

YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 3/4
Syed Abdullah bin Syed Abd Kadir	 4/4
Datuk Kamaruddin bin Taib	 4/4
Eow Kwan Hoong (Resigned as member on 23 January 2009)	 4/4
Chan Feoi Chun (Appointed as member on 23 January 2009)	 0/0

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The Committee carried out its duties and responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference during the year. The 
main activities undertaken by the Committee were as follows:

1.	� Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results of the Company and Group before tabling to the Board for 
consideration and approval.

2.	��� Reviewed and discussed with the external auditors the nature and scope of the audit prior to the commencement 
of the audit.

3.	 Consideration and recommendation to the Board for approval of audit fees payable to the external auditors.
4.	 Reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the services provided.
5.	� Discussed significant accounting and auditing issues, impact of new or proposed changes in accounting standards 

and regulatory requirements.
6.	 Reviewed the related party transactions entered into by the Company and the Group.
7.	 Received and reviewed internal audit reports.
8.	 Reviewed internal audit plans for the financial year of the Company and the Group, prepared by internal auditors.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION	   
Pleiades Associates Sdn Bhd, who is independent of the activities or operations of the Group, carries out the Group’s 
Internal Audit Function. The Internal Auditors are empowered to audit the Group’s business units, review the units’ 
compliance with internal control procedures and to assist the Audit Committee in maintaining a sound system of 
internal control. The Audit Committee has full access to the Internal Auditors for internal audit purposes.
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statement on internal control

In complying with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance, the Board of Directors is committed to maintain a 
sound system of internal control and risk management to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. 
To this effect, the Group has established an appropriate control environment and framework as well as reviewing its 
adequacy and integrity. The system of internal control covers, inter alia, financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management procedures. According to Paragraph 15.27 (b) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), the Directors of public listed companies are required to include in its annual 
report a “statement about the state of internal control of the listed issuer as a group”. 

The Board is pleased to outline the nature and scope of internal control of the Group for the financial year 31 December 
2008.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The key elements of the internal control structure and processes are set out as below:

•	� In order to avoid conflict of interest, the Group is upholding segregation of duties through clear delegation of 
responsibilities and authority among Board Committees and management

•	� Departmental units are required to prepare budget every year accordingly and the compiled Group budget is required 
to be approved by the Board to ensure effective execution. Following, the results against budget are monitored to 
ensure necessary management action is being taken on the variances.

•	� Adequate reporting systems are in place for information transfer to the Board and management relating to operating 
and financial performance and key business issues

•	�T he Group’s internal policies and procedures are well documented in Standard Operating Procedures to ensure 
compliance with internal control.

•	� Closed-circuit cameras and card access system are installed in the office building and factory site coupled with all 
times security check at the main entrance for security purpose.

The internal control system by nature has its limitation in assuring the companies of the Group from material misstatement 
and loss. Therefore, risk management plays a part in the Group’s business operation in pursuit of its business objective. 
The Group has implemented a formal process in identifying, monitoring and managing the risk as well as setting up 
suitable internal control in accordance with the guidance prescribed in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance. The 
Board is assisted by the assurance team, internal auditors for the risk management and internal control implementation. 
This process is continually reviewed by internal auditors and strengthened as appropriate.

INTERNAL AUDIT FRAMEWORK
The Board fully supports the internal audit function and through the Audit Committee, continually reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the risk management process in place.

The Group has outsourced its internal audit function. Internal audit independently reviews the risk identification 
procedures and control processes implemented by management, and reports to the Audit Committee. Internal audit 
also reviews the internal controls in the key activities of the Group’s businesses. The internal audit function adopts a 
risk based-approach and prepares its audit strategy and plan based on the risk profiles of the various business units 
of the Group.

Internal audit also undertakes a review of the Company’s compliance with recommended principles and best practices. 
The results and any corrective action that may be necessary are reported directly to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk monitoring and compliance procedures, ensuring that an appropriate mix of 
techniques is used to obtain the level of assurance required by the Board. The Audit Committee considers reports from 
internal audit and from management, before reporting and making recommendations to the Board in strengthening 
the risk management, internal control and governance systems. The committee presents its findings to the Board on 
a regular basis.

OTHER RISK AND CONTROL PROCESS
Apart from risk management and internal audit, the Board has put in place an organizational structure with formally 
defined lines of responsibility. A reporting process has been established which provide for a documented and auditable 
trail of accountability. These processes were reviewed by internal audit, which provides a degree of assurance as to 
operations and validity of the systems of internal control.



INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
Pleiades Associates Sdn Bhd (“Pleiades”), an independent internal audit service provider, supports the Audit Committee, 
and by extension, the Board, by providing independent assurance on the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
controls.

Pleiades submits audit reports and plan status for review and approval to the Audit Committee which included the 
reports with the recommended corrective measures on risks identified, if any, for implementation by the management 
of the business units and operation.

The internal audit work plan, which reflects the risk profile of the Group’s major business sectors is periodically 
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.

CONCLUSION
The Board is pleased to report that there were no material losses incurred during the financial year that would require 
disclosure in the annual report as a result of weaknesses or deficiencies in internal control. The Group is at all times 
to strengthen the internal control environment through the internal audit framework.

statement on internal control
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The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view of state of affairs 
of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the results and cash flows of the Groups 
and of the Company for the financial year ended. The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are 
drawn up in accordance with the applicable approved financial reporting standards in Malaysia and provision of 
the Companies Act, 1965. 

The Directors have considered that all applicable approved accounting standards have been followed in preparing 
the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2008. The Group has fulfilled the requirements 
of using appropriate accounting policies and applying them consistently and made judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent. The financial statements is prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence in the foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and the Company keep accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and of the Company and which enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable approved 
accounting standards in Malaysia. 

The Directors have a general responsibility for taking all steps as are reasonably opened to them to safeguard the assets 
of the Group and the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

statement of directors’ responsibilities
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additional compliance information

The information set out below is disclosed in compliance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia

1.	UTILI SATION OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM CORPORATE PROPOSAL
	�T here were no proceeds raised by the Company from corporate proposals during the financial year ended 31 

December 2008.

2.	 SHARE BUY-BACK
	T he Company did not make any proposal for share buy-back during the financial year.

3.	OPTION S, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES 
	�T here were no exercise of options and warrants during the financial year other than a conversion of 35,878,752 

non-cumulative irredeemable convertible preference shares of RM0.15 each into 35,878,752 ordinary shares. The 
IRIS Corporation Berhad Employees Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) has expired on 5 February 2009.

4. 	AMERICAN  DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“ADR”) OR GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“GDR”) 
	�T he Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme during the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

5.	IMPO SITION OF SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES
	�T here were no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or 

Management by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

6.	NON -AUDIT FEES
	�T here were no non-audit fees incurred to the Company by the external auditors for the financial year ended 31 

December 2008. 

7.	VARIATION  IN RESULTS
	�T here were no significant variance in the Company’s audited financial results for the financial year ended 31 

December 2008 from the unaudited results as previously announced.

8.	PRO FIT GUARANTEE
	� During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company did not give any profit 

guarantee.

9.	MATERIAL  CONTRACTS INVOLVING DIRECTORS’ AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS’
	� For the financial year ended 31 December 2008, no contract of a material nature was entered into or subsisted 

between the Company and its Directors or major shareholders.

10.	REVALUATION POLICY ON LANDED PROPERTIES
	� No valuation carried out by the Company and its subsidiary company on landed properties during the financial year 

ended 31 December 2008. Revaluation will be carried out when deemed appropriate by the directors.

11. LIST OF PROPERTIES
	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the list of the property as set out below:

			L   and	B uilt-up					N     et book
		D  escription	A rea	A rea	E xisting	T enure/Lease	A ge of	D ate of	V alue
	L ocation	 of land	 (sq. ft.)	 (sq. ft.)	U se	P eriod	 building	A cquisition	 (RM’000)

	H .S (D) 	L and with	 188,179	 328,459	 Factory, 	 Sub-Lease	    14	    17 July	   62,013
	 85958 P.T,	 a 4 and			   warehouse	 (Term of		     1995
	 No. 5517, 	 half storey			   and office	 30 years, 
	 Mukim 	 building				    expiring on
	P etaling, 	 and				    16 July	
	 Daerah 	 car park				    2025)
	 Kuala 	 facilities
	L umpur
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12.	CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
	�T he Company recognizes its social obligation to society and strives for a balanced approach between fulfilling 

its key business objectives and contributing to society and the environment by looking for and providing not only 
digital identity solutions, but also solutions to tackle food security issues and alleviate society’s environmental 
concerns.

	�O ne way this is done is via its ventures into farming solutions, which utilizes an environmentally-friendly farming 
system to enable food plants to be grown on previously non-arable lands or unconventional spaces, by going back 
to the basics of farming to optimize nutrient absorption and to minimize wastage.

	� In playing its part to ensure a sustainable environment for future generations, the Company has also, introduced an 
alternative to safely and efficiently manage waste disposal – through its green gas waste incineration system that 
uses water as the fuel source, with no carbon emission upon combustion.

	�T hese solutions effectively demonstrate the Company’s commitment and seriousness in taking on its corporate 
social responsibility through its daily business operations.

	�T he Company continuously strives to adopt eco-friendly practices such as minimizing the use of hazardous 
compounds in its manufacturing processes to protect the environment and also periodically contributes to various 
forms of donations and generously sponsor a myriad of deserving events every year. 

	� In true esprit de corps and sharing in its belief to give back to society, the Company’s employees also actively engage 
in CSR-related activities, including organizing the half-yearly blood donation campaign in the office compound to 
contribute to the rapidly depleting store of the National Blood Centre.

13.	RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE
	�O n 24 June 2008, the Company obtained a mandate from its shareholders to enter into recurrent related party 

transactions of a revenue or trading nature. The details of the recurrent related party transactions are disclosed on 
pages 99 to 100.
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directors’ report

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in the business of technology consulting, implementation of digital identity and 
business solutions. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements. 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

RESULTs

				T    he 	T he
				G    roup	C ompany
				RM    ’000	RM ’000

Profit after taxation				    10,632	 7,536
				  
Attributable to:				  
Equity holders of the Company				    10,677	 7,536
Minority interests				    (45)	 -

				    10,632	 7,536

DIVIDENDs
No dividend was paid since the end of the previous financial year and the directors do not recommend the payment 
of any dividend for the current financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
All material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year are disclosed in the financial 
statements.

ISSUES OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
During the financial year,

(a)		 there were no changes in the authorised share capital of the Company;

(b)	�	 the conversion of 35,878,752 non-cumulative irredeemable convertible preference shares (“ICPS”) of RM 0.15 
each into 35,878,752 ordinary shares. The new shares which arose from the conversion of the ICPS rank pari 
passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company; and 

(c)		 there were no issues of debentures by the Company.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 
During the financial year, no options were granted by the Company to any person to take up any unissued shares 
in the Company.

EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME (“ESOS”)
The ESOS is governed by the by-laws approved by the shareholders on 28 January 2004. The ESOS was implemented 
on 16 February 2004 and is to be in force for a period of 5 years from the date of implementation.
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The number of the options and the exercise price for the options under the ESOS had been revised after incorporating 
the effects of the Bonus Issue and Share Consolidation. The movement in the options to subscribe for the new 
ordinary shares of RM0.15 each at the revised exercise price of RM0.24 per share is as follows:

				     	N umber of 
					O     ptions Over
					O     rdinary 
					     Shares

Ordinary Shares of RM0.15 each:	
	
As at 1 January 2008					     54,873,253
Cancellation due to staff resignations during the financial year				    (4,457,282)
	
As at 31 December 2008					     50,415,971

The Company has been granted exemption by the Companies Commission of Malaysia from having to disclose the 
list of option holders who were granted less than 1,000,000 options during the financial year in the annual report. 
Eligible employees who were granted options under the ESOS for and in excess of 1,000,000 ordinary shares each 
are as follows:

				         Number Of Options Over Ordinary Share
				A    t	  	A t
				    1.1.2008	E xercised	 31.12.2008

1.	 Chuah Ban Cheng			   1,386,000	 -	 1,386,000
2.	L ee Wai Sum			   1,385,500	 -	 1,385,500
3.	 Wong Yit Long			   1,325,175	 -	 1,325,175
4.	 Choong Wan An			   1,004,500	 -	 1,004,500

Interests of directors in ESOS are disclosed under Directors’ Interests.

The salient terms and conditions of the ESOS are as follows:

(i)	� the ESOS shall be in force for a period of 5 years commencing from the effective date of the implementation 
of the ESOS;

(ii)	� not more than 50% of the new ordinary shares of the Company available under the ESOS should be allocated, 
in aggregate, to the directors and senior management of the Group;

(iii)	� not more than 25% of the new ordinary shares of the Company available under the ESOS should be allocated 
to any individual eligible employee;

(vi)	� only 12.5% of the options can be exercised in the first year, 12.5% in the second year, 20% in the third year, 
25% in the fourth year and the remaining 30% in the fifth year;

(v)	� the initial option price offered was at RM0.28 and has been reduced to RM0.24 after revision on 15 June 
2006; and

(vi)	� the new shares to be allotted upon the exercise of any option will rank pari passu in all respects with the 
existing issued and paid-up share capital of the Company, except that the new shares allotted under the ESOS 
will not rank for any dividends, rights, allotment or other distributions declare, made or paid prior to the date 
of allotment of the option.
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NON-CUMULATIVE IRREDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (“ICPS”)
On 27 June 2006, the Company issued 368,343,533 units of 3% ICPS at RM0.15 each. The main features of the 
ICPS are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

WARRANTS
On 24 April 2006, the Company executed a deed poll pertaining to the creation and issuance of 55,251,530 
2006/2016 warrants on the basis of three warrants for every fifty existing ordinary shares held in the Company. The 
warrants were listed on Malaysian Exchange of Securities Dealings and Automated Quotation Berhad (“MESDAQ”). 
The main features of 1006/1016 warrants are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

On 27 June 2006, the Company issued 55,251,530 units of free detachable warrants to the shareholders of the 
Company on the basis of twenty ICPS and three free warrants for every fifty existing ordinary shares of RM0.15 
each held in the Company.

As at the end of the financial year, 46,617,589 warrants remained unexercised.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS
Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for doubtful debts, and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would further require the writing 
off of bad debts, or the additional allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company.

CURRENT ASSETS
Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain that any current assets other than debts, which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary 
course of business, including their value as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company, 
have been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values 
attributed to the current assets in the financial statements misleading.

VALUATION METHODS
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading 
or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company are disclosed in Note 49 to the financial statements. 
At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	� any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent or other liability of the Group and of the Company has become enforceable or is likely to become 
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the 
directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations 
when they fall due.
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CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report 
or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading. 

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE
The results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not, in the opinion of 
the directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect substantially 
the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year.

DIRECTORS
The directors who served since the date of the last report are as follows:

TAN SRI RAZALI BIN ISMAIL
YAM TUNKU DATO’ SERI SHAHABUDDIN BIN TUNKU BESAR BURHANUDDIN
DATO’ TAN SAY JIM
LEE KWEE HIANG
YAP HOCK ENG
EOW KWAN HOONG
DATO’ MOHAMAD SUPARADI BIN MD NOOR
DATO’ SYED ABDUL RAHMAN BIN SYED ABDUL KADIR
DATUK KAMARUDDIN BIN TAIB
DATO’ NOORAZMAN BIN ABD. AZIZ 
SYED ABDULLAH BIN SYED ABD KADIR
CHAN FEOI CHUN (APPOINTED ON 23.1.2009)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors holding office at the end of the 
financial year in the shares and the options in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year 
are as follows:

			     Number Of Ordinary Shares Of RM0.15 Each
		A  t	A llotment	 Icps		  At	
		  1.1.2008	 /Bought	C onversion	 Sold	 31.12.2008

THE COMPANY					   
DIRECT INTERESTS: 
Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail	 39,533,333	 18,400	 -	 -	 39,551,733
YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin 
  Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 2,666,667	 -	 -	 -	   2,666,667
Dato’ Tan Say Jim	 46,492,233	 -	 -	 -	 46,492,233
Lee Kwee Hiang	 22,100,000	 1,150,000	 -	 -	 23,250,000
Yap Hock Eng	 31,022,200	 -	 -	 -	 31,022,200
Eow Kwan Hoong	 1,593,333	 -	 -	 -	   1,593,333
Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md Noor	 667	 -	 -	  -	 667
Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 333,333	 -	 -	 -	      333,333
					   
INDIRECT INTERESTS:
Dato’ Tan Say Jim #	 98,855,667	 -	 31,268,366	 -	 130,124,033
Yap Hock Eng *	 121,333,333	 -	 -	 56,000,000	   65,333,333
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (cont’d)

		N  umber Of Non-cumulative 
		I  rredeemable Convertible
		P  reference Shares Of RM0.15 Each
					C     onversion
				A    t	T o Ordinary 	A t
				    1.1.2008	 Shares	 31.12.2008	

DIRECT INTERESTS: 
YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin			 
  Tunku Besar Burhanuddin			   1,866,666	 -	 1,866,666
Lee Kwee Hiang			   9,240,000	 -	 9,240,000
Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abdul Kadir			   133,333	 -	 133,333
			 
INDIRECT INTERESTS:
Dato’ Tan Say Jim #			   31,268,366	 (31,268,366)	 -

		N  umber Of Warrants
			A   t 			A   t
			   1.1.2008	B ought	 Sold	 31.12.2008	

DIRECT INTERESTS: 
YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin 
  Tunku Besar Burhanuddin		  280,000	 -	 -	 280,000
Dato’ Tan Say Jim		  1,385,000	 -	 -	 1,385,000
Lee Kwee Hiang		  1,386,000	 -	 -	 1,386,000
Yap Hock Eng		  738,000	 -	 -	 738,000
Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abdul Kadir		  19,999	 -	 -	 19,999
				  
INDIRECT INTERESTS:
Yap Hock Eng*		  2,800,000	 -	 -	 2,800,000

The interests of directors holding office at the end of the financial year in the options under ESOS are as follows:

		N  umber Of Ordinary Shares Of
		RM  0.15 Each Granted Under Option At 
		A  n Exercise Price Of RM0.24 Each
				A    t		A  t
				    1.1.2008	E xercised	 31.12.2008

Dato’ Tan Say Jim			   8,395,000	 -	 8,395,000
Lee Kwee Hiang			   6,716,000	 -	 6,716,000
Yap Hock Eng			   3,693,800	 -	 3,693,800
Eow Kwan Hoong			   4,716,000	 -	 4,716,000
Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi Bin Md Noor			   1,800,000	 -	 1,800,000

#	 Deemed interest by virtue of his direct substantial shareholdings in Versatile Paper Boxes Sdn Bhd.
*	 Deemed interest by virtue of his beneficial ownership of MCS Microsystems Sdn Bhd.

The other directors, Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin Syed Abdul Kadir, Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib and Dato’ Noorazman Bin 
Abd. Aziz had no interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by directors 
as shown in the financial statements, or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason of a 
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a 
member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest except for any benefits which 
may be deemed to arise from transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business with companies in which 
certain directors have substantial financial interests as disclosed in Note 50 to the financial statements.

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements whose 
object is to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate except for the options granted to the directors pursuant to the ESOS.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 52 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
The auditors, Messrs. Horwath, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

SIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE DIRECTORS
DATED 

Dato’ Tan Say Jim

Lee Kwee Hiang
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We, Dato’ Tan Say Jim and Lee Kwee Hiang, being two of the directors of IRIS Corporation Berhad, state that, in 
the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 51 to 106 are drawn up in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 December 2008 and of their results and cash flows for the 
financial year ended on that date.

SIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE DIRECTORS
DATED 

Dato’ Tan Say Jim	Lee  Kwee Hiang

statement by directors

I, Dato’ Tan Say Jim, I/C No. 571109-08-6215, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management 
of IRIS Corporation Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 51 
to 106 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
Dato’ Tan Say Jim, I/C No. 571109-08-6215,
at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory 
on this

Dato’ Tan Say Jim
					   

Before me

statutory declaration
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Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of IRIS Corporation Berhad, which comprise the balance sheets as at 31 
December 2008 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity 
and cash flow statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 51 to 106. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia. This 
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2008 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended. 

Other Matters
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the preceding financial year were audited by another 
firm of auditors whose report dated 18 April 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) 	�In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the 
Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act.

(b) 	�We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ report of the subsidiaries of which we have not 
acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 6 to the financial statements.

independent auditors’ report to the members of
Iris Corporation Berhad
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (cont’d)
(c) 	� We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the 

Company’s financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and 
explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) 	�The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any 
adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

Horwath	        James Chan Kuan Chee
Firm No: AF 1018	 Approval No: 2271/10/09 (J)
Chartered Accountants	P artner 

Kuala Lumpur

independent auditors’ report to the members of
Iris Corporation Berhad
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balance sheets
as at 31 december 2008

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

ASSETS									     
NON-CURRENT ASSETS									     
Investment in subsidiaries	 6	 -	 -	 180,427	 180,294
Investment in associates	 7	 6,223	 6,221	 5,814	 5,814
Property, plant and equipment	 8	 39,466	 104,422	 1,291	 1,808
Prepaid land lease payments	 9	 -	 6,268	 -	 -
Concession assets	 10	 23,225	 15,798	 23,375	 15,798
Development costs	 11	 7,355	 10,278	 7,355	 10,278
Intellectual properties	 12	 13,496	 14,872	 6,353	 6,968
Promissory notes	 13	 -	 -	 -	 9,000
Other investments	 14	 406	 406	 406	 406
Goodwill on consolidation	 15	 133,982	 134,126	 -	 -
									     
		  224,153	 292,391	 225,021	 230,366

CURRENT ASSETS									     
Inventories 	 16	 69,980	 75,814	 23,203	 25,654
Trade receivables	 17	 101,601	 79,236	 48,351	 26,199
Amount owing by contract customers	 18	 6,783	 14,536	 5,150	 4,619
Other receivables, deposits and 
  prepayments	 19	 38,336	 30,340	 17,983	 7,210
Amount owing by subsidiaries	 20	 -	 -	 39,161	 16,930
Amount owing by associates	 21	 2,428	 7,078	 -	 8
Amount owing by related parties	 22	 249	 94	 193	 94
Promissory notes	 13	 -	 -	 9,000	 8,500
Tax refundable		  210	 81	 -	 50
Deposits with licensed banks	 23	 17,428	 13,782	 13,367	 9,468
Cash and bank balances		  37,906	 14,166	 11,148	 3,858
									     
		  274,921	 235,127	 167,556	 102,590
Non-current assets held for sale	 24	 62,013	 -	 -	 -

		  336,934	 235,127	 167,556	 102,590
									     
TOTAL ASSETS		  561,087	 527,518	 392,577	 332,956
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	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY									     
Share capital	 25	 216,416	 216,416	 216,416	 216,416
Share premium	 26	 35,052	 35,052	 35,052	 35,052
Foreign exchange translation reserve	 27	 19	 -	 -	 -
Revaluation reserve	 28	 -	 13,516	 -	 -
Reserve relating to assets held 
  for sale	 28	 13,724	 -	 -	 -
Retained profits/(Accumulated losses)		  13,075	 2,231	 (64,497)	 (72,033)

TOTAL EQUITY 		  278,286	 267,215	 186,971	 179,435

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES									     
Other payables	 29	 2,812	 2,738	 -	 -
Hire purchase payables	 30	 462	 717	 358	 325
Lease payables	 31	 1,847	 6,913	 -	 -
Term loan 	 32	 15,341	 -	 15,341	 -
Bonds	 33	 88,875	 125,000	 28,875	 65,000
Deferred tax liabilities	 34	 7,587	 5,356	 -	 -

		  116,924	 140,724	 44,574	 65,325
									     
CURRENT LIABILITIES									     
Trade payables	 35	 48,348	 28,527	 25,816	 6,880
Amount owing to contract customers	 18	 8,515	 -	 8,357	 -
Other payables and accruals	 29	 30,592	 26,368	 18,715	 14,331
Amount owing to subsidiaries	 20	 -	 -	 65,814	 33,116
Amount owing to related parties	 22	 313	 103	 269	 103
Amount owing to directors	 36	 378	 378	 378	 378
Hire purchase payables	 30	 392	 869	 104	 96
Lease payables	 31	 5,066	 5,346	 -	 -
Short-term borrowings	 37	 34,894	 32,988	 4,200	 8,292
Bonds	 33	 36,125	 25,000	 36,125	 25,000
Provision for taxation		  1,254	 -	 1,254	 -
									     
		  165,877	 119,579	 161,032	 88,196

TOTAL LIABILITIES		  282,801	 260,303	 205,606	 153,521

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		  561,087	 527,518	 392,577	 332,956
									     
NET ASSETS PER SHARE (sen)	 39	 19.81	 19.52				  
									     

balance sheets
as at 31 december 2008
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income statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

REVENUE	 40	 285,600	 219,529	 142,958	 55,037
									     
COST OF SALES	 41	 (222,209)	 (161,246)	 (106,730)	 (44,759)
									     
GROSS PROFIT		  63,391	 58,283	 36,228	 10,278
									     
OTHER INCOME     		  3,719	 4,356	 2,083 	 957
									     
		  67,110	 62,639	 38,311	 11,235
									     
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES		  (25,557)	 (31,945)	 (16,909)	 (15,847)
									     
FINANCE COSTS		  (15,058)	 (15,663)	 (7,602)	 (7,677)
									     
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES		  (10,659)	 (9,470)	 (4,914)	 (5,789)
									     
		  15,836	 5,561	 8,886	 (18,078)
									     
SHARE OF PROFIT/(LOSS) IN 
  ASSOCIATES		  2	 (45)	 -	 -
									     
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION	 42	 15,838	 5,516	 8,886	 (18,078)
									     
INCOME TAX EXPENSE	 43	 (5,206)	 2,012	 (1,350)	 -
									     
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION		  10,632	 7,528	 7,536	 (18,078)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:									     
Equity holders of the Company		  10,677	 7,533	 7,536	 (18,078)
Minority Interests		  (45)	 (5)	 -	 -

		  10,632	 7,528	 7,536	 (18,078)

Earnings Per Share									     
- Basic	 44	 0.78sen	 0.60sen
- Diluted	 44	 0.76sen	 0.55sen
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		A  ttributable To Equity Holders Of Company
	 Share Capital	                                      Non-distributable	D istributable
				N    on-cumulative
				I    rredeemable		  Foreign	R eserve		R  etained
			O   rdinary	C onvertible 		E  xchange	R elating To		P  rofits/
			   Share	P reference	 Share	T ranslation	A sset Held	R evaluation	 (Accumulated 		M  inority	T otal
			C   apital	 Shares (“Icps”)	P remium	R eserve	 For Sale	R eserves	  Losses)	T otal	I nterest	E quity	
The Group	  	   Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	   Rm’000  

Balance at 1.1.2007		  173,769	 23,118	 26,653	 (2,275)	 - 	 14,256	 (5,591)	 229,930	 -	 229,930
Profit after taxation		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -	 7,533	 7,533	 (5)	 7,528
New business combination		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -	 -	          -	 5	 5
Issuance of ordinary shares		  19,529	 -        	 8,399	 -       	 -   	 -	 -	 27,928	 -	 27,928
Effect of subsidiary written off		  -	 -	 - 	 2,275	 -   	 -	 -	 2,275	 -	 2,275
Reclassified from building cost		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 (626)	 -	 (626)	 -	 (626)
Overprovision deferred taxation		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 175	 -	 175	 -	 175
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares		  11,998	 (11,998)	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -       	 -	 -	 -	 -
Realisation on usage of property		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 (289)	 289	 -	 -	 -
										        
Balance at 31.12.2007/1.1.2008		  205,296	 11,120	 35,052	 -       	 - 	 13,516	 2,231	    267,215	 -	 267,215
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares		  5,382	 (5,382)	 - 	 -  	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -      
Overprovision of deferred taxation		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 375	 -	       375	 -	 375
Realisation on usage of property		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 (167)	 167	 -	 -	 -
Amount recognised directly in equity relating to										        
  assets held for sale		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	   13,724	 (13,724)	 -	 -	 -	 -
Incorporation of a subsidiary 		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 -	 -	 -	 45	 45
Profit after taxation		  -  	 - 	 - 	 -  	 - 	 - 	 10,677	 10,677	 (45)	 10,632
Currency translation difference not 										        
  recognised in the income statements		  -  	 - 	 - 	 19	 - 	 - 	 -	             19	 -    	 19
										        
Balance at 31.12.2008		  210,678	 5,738	 35,052	 19	 13,724	 -  	 13,075	 278,286	 -  	 278,286

								                     	Attributable To Equity Holders Of Company
								                           Share Capital		N  on-distributable	D istributable
									N         on-cumulative
									I         rredeemable
								O        rdinary	C onvertible 
								        Share	P reference	 Share	A ccumulated	T otal
								C        apital	 Shares (“Icps”)	P remium	L osses	E quity
	The Company	  	  					      Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000  

Balance at 1.1.2007							       173,769	 23,118	 26,653	 (53,955)	 169,585
Issuance of ordinary shares 		        					      19,529	 -  	 8,399	 -  	 27,928
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares							       11,998	 (11,998)	 -  	 -  	 -  
Loss after taxation							       -   	 -  	 -  	 (18,078)	 (18,078)

Balance at 31.12.2007/1.1.2008							       205,296	 11,120	 35,052	 (72,033)	 179,435
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares							       5,382	 (5,382)	 -	 -   
Profit after taxation							       -   	 - 	 -	 7,536	 7,536

Balance at 31.12.2008							       210,678	 5,738	 35,052	 (64,497)	 186,971

statements of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008
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		A  ttributable To Equity Holders Of Company
	 Share Capital	                                      Non-distributable	D istributable
				N    on-cumulative
				I    rredeemable		  Foreign	R eserve		R  etained
			O   rdinary	C onvertible 		E  xchange	R elating To		P  rofits/
			   Share	P reference	 Share	T ranslation	A sset Held	R evaluation	 (Accumulated 		M  inority	T otal
			C   apital	 Shares (“Icps”)	P remium	R eserve	 For Sale	R eserves	  Losses)	T otal	I nterest	E quity	
The Group	  	   Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	   Rm’000  

Balance at 1.1.2007		  173,769	 23,118	 26,653	 (2,275)	 - 	 14,256	 (5,591)	 229,930	 -	 229,930
Profit after taxation		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -	 7,533	 7,533	 (5)	 7,528
New business combination		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -	 -	          -	 5	 5
Issuance of ordinary shares		  19,529	 -        	 8,399	 -       	 -   	 -	 -	 27,928	 -	 27,928
Effect of subsidiary written off		  -	 -	 - 	 2,275	 -   	 -	 -	 2,275	 -	 2,275
Reclassified from building cost		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 (626)	 -	 (626)	 -	 (626)
Overprovision deferred taxation		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 175	 -	 175	 -	 175
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares		  11,998	 (11,998)	 - 	 -  	 -   	 -       	 -	 -	 -	 -
Realisation on usage of property		  -	 -	 - 	 -  	 -   	 (289)	 289	 -	 -	 -
										        
Balance at 31.12.2007/1.1.2008		  205,296	 11,120	 35,052	 -       	 - 	 13,516	 2,231	    267,215	 -	 267,215
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares		  5,382	 (5,382)	 - 	 -  	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -      
Overprovision of deferred taxation		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 375	 -	       375	 -	 375
Realisation on usage of property		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 (167)	 167	 -	 -	 -
Amount recognised directly in equity relating to										        
  assets held for sale		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	   13,724	 (13,724)	 -	 -	 -	 -
Incorporation of a subsidiary 		  -  	 -  	 - 	 -  	 -	 -	 -	 -	 45	 45
Profit after taxation		  -  	 - 	 - 	 -  	 - 	 - 	 10,677	 10,677	 (45)	 10,632
Currency translation difference not 										        
  recognised in the income statements		  -  	 - 	 - 	 19	 - 	 - 	 -	             19	 -    	 19
										        
Balance at 31.12.2008		  210,678	 5,738	 35,052	 19	 13,724	 -  	 13,075	 278,286	 -  	 278,286

								                     	Attributable To Equity Holders Of Company
								                           Share Capital		N  on-distributable	D istributable
									N         on-cumulative
									I         rredeemable
								O        rdinary	C onvertible 
								        Share	P reference	 Share	A ccumulated	T otal
								C        apital	 Shares (“Icps”)	P remium	L osses	E quity
	The Company	  	  					      Rm’000	    Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000	 Rm’000  

Balance at 1.1.2007							       173,769	 23,118	 26,653	 (53,955)	 169,585
Issuance of ordinary shares 		        					      19,529	 -  	 8,399	 -  	 27,928
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares							       11,998	 (11,998)	 -  	 -  	 -  
Loss after taxation							       -   	 -  	 -  	 (18,078)	 (18,078)

Balance at 31.12.2007/1.1.2008							       205,296	 11,120	 35,052	 (72,033)	 179,435
Conversion of ICPS into ordinary shares							       5,382	 (5,382)	 -	 -   
Profit after taxation							       -   	 - 	 -	 7,536	 7,536

Balance at 31.12.2008							       210,678	 5,738	 35,052	 (64,497)	 186,971
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cash flow statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

CASH FLOWS FROM								     
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES								     
Profit/(Loss) before taxation		  15,838	 5,516	 8,886	 (18,078)
								     
Adjustments for:								     
Allowance for contract foreseeable								     
  loss		  8,711	 989	 -	 -  
Allowance for doubtful debts		  800	 2,782	 -	 1,479
Allowance for impairment loss								     
  on other investment		  - 	 2,378	 -	 2,378
Allowance for slow-moving inventories 		  311	 2,675	 -	 2,036
Amortisation of development costs		  2,552	 1,637	 2,552	 1,637
Amortisation of concession assets		  288	 -	 288	 -      
Amortisation of intellectual properties		  1,380	 1,380	 615	 615
Amortisation of prepaid land lease								     
  payments		  308	 309	 -	 -  
Bad debts written off		  4,335	 34	 4,335	 34
Writeback of allowance for								     
  doubtful debts		  (115)	 (780)	 (10)	 (780)  
Depreciation of property, plant								     
  and equipment		  12,815	 8,683	 657	 841
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries		  144	 -	 -	 -       
Overprovision of allowance for slow							     
  moving inventories		  (10,359)	 -	 (4,453)	 -      
Interest expense		  14,286	 15,400	 6,906	 7,603
Share of (profit)/loss in an associate		  (2)	 45	 - 	 -  
Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange	 (40)	 1,533	 (8)	 873
Realised gain on translation reserve
  from subsidiary written off		  - 	 (684)	 - 	 -  
Gain on disposal of plant and
  equipment		  (79)	 (24)	 (77)	 (14)
Interest income		  (1,338)	 (781)	 (773)	 (593)
Inventory written off		  12,050	 -  	 6,164	 -  

Operating profit/(loss) before working								     
  capital changes/Balance carried 								     
  forward		  61,885	 41,092	 25,082	 (1,969)
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	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

Operating profit/(loss) before working								     
  capital changes/Balance brought  								     
  forward		  61,885	 41,092	 25,082	 (1,969)
Decrease in inventories		  2,805	 12,686	 740	 67
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and								     
  other receivables		  (34,541)	 13,583	 (37,242)	 (4,067)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade 								     
  and other payables		  24,119	 (17,921)	 23,320	 4,341
Decrease/(Increase) in amount 								     
  owing by/to contract customers		  7,557	 (15,524)	 7,826	 (4,619)
Net increase in amount owing to 								     
  subsidiaries		  -      	 -  	 10,467	 -    
Decrease in amount owing by								     
  associates		  3,850	 -  	 8	 -    
Proceeds from issuance of shares by								     
  subsidiary to minority shareholders		  45	  -  	  - 	 -    
Net increase in amount owing to								     
  related parties		  55	 -  	 67	 -    

CASH FROM/(FOR) OPERATIONS		  65,775	 33,916	 30,268	 (6,247)
								     
Interest paid		  (14,286)	 (13,781)	 (6,906)	 (6,480)
Interest received		  1,338	 781	 773	 593
Tax paid		  (1,475)	 (75)	 (46)	 (50)

NET CASH FROM/(FOR)								     
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES		  51,352	 20,841	 24,089	 (12,184)
								     
CASH FLOWS FROM/(FOR)								     
  INVESTING ACTIVITIES								     
(Purchase)/Reversal of intellectual 
  properties		  (4)	 806 	 -  	 -       
Incorporation of a subsidiary		  -       	 - 	 (133)	 *   
Acquisition of an associate		  - 	 (814)	 -	 (814)
Acquisition of concession assets		  (7,715)	 (15,798)	 (7,865)	 (15,798)
Acquisition of other investments		  - 	 (516)	 - 	 (516)
Purchase of plant and equipment 	 45	 (3,101)	 (10,104)	 (335)	 (884)
Proceeds from disposal of plant 								     
 and equipment		  606	 81	 583	 59
Development costs incurred		  - 	 (1,178)	 -	 (1,179)
Grant received on development 
  costs		  371	 - 	 371	 -       

NET CASH FOR INVESTING								     
  ACTIVITIES		  (9,843)	 (27,523)	 (7,379)	 (19,132)
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cash flow statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

CASH FLOWS FROM								     
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES								     
Drawdown of revolving credit		  10,314	 - 	 -	 -       
Drawdown of term loan		  20,211	 -	 20,211	 -       
Decrease in bankers’ acceptances		  (7,608)	 -	 (8,292)	 -       
Proceeds of share through								     
  minority interest		  -	 5	 -	 -       
Repayment of bonds		  (25,000)	 (15,000)	 (25,000)	 (15,000)
Proceeds from issuance of      
  ordinary shares		  -	 27,927	 - 	 27,927
Repayment of Murabahah								     
  commercial papers		  (5,000)	 (5,000)	 - 	 -       
Repayment of hire purchase and								     
  lease obligations		  (6,389)	 (5,798)	 (270)	 (84)
Repayment of promissory notes								     
  by a subsidiary		  -	 -	 8,500	 8,500
Repayment of term loan		  (670)	 -	 (670)	 -       

NET CASH (FOR)/FROM 								     
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES		  (14,142)	 2,134	 (5,521)	 21,343

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)
  IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		  27,367	 (4,548)	 11,189	 (9,973)
								     
Foreign exchange translation 
  differences		  19	 - 	 -	 -     
								     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS								     
  AT BEGINNING OF THE								     
  FINANCIAL YEAR		  27,948	 32,496	 13,326	 23,299
								     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 								     
  AT END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR	 46	 55,334	 27,948	 24,515	 13,326
								     
								     
 

*  - less than RM1,000
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notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008

1.	GENERAL  INFORMATION
	�T he Company is a public company limited by shares and is incorporated under the Companies Act 1965 in 

Malaysia. The domicile of the Company is Malaysia. The registered office and principal place of business are 
as follows:

	 Registered office	 :	L evel 18, The Gardens North Tower,
		   	 Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra,
		   	 59200 Kuala Lumpur.

	P rincipal place of business	 :	 4th Floor, IRIS Smart Technology Complex,
		   	T echnology Park Malaysia, Bukit Jalil,
		   	 57000 Kuala Lumpur.
			    
	�T he financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 

of the directors dated 28 April 2009.

2.	PRINCIPAL  ACTIVITIES
	�T he Company is principally engaged in technology consulting, implementation of digital identity and business 

solutions. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements. There 
have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
	�T he Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available 

for the development of the Group’s business whilst managing market, credit, liquidity and cash flow risks. The 
policies in respect of the major areas of treasury activity are as follows:

	 (a)	M arket Risk
		  (i)	 Foreign Currency Risk
			�T   he Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on investments, sales and purchases that are 

denominated in foreign currencies. It manages its foreign exchange exposure by a policy of matching 
as far as possible receipts and payments in each individual currency.

			�   Surpluses of convertible currencies are either retained in foreign currency or sold for Ringgit Malaysia. 
The Group’s foreign currency transactions and balances are substantially denominated in United 
States (“US”) Dollar, Euro, Pound Sterling, Singapore Dollar, New Turkish Lira, Egyptian Pound and 
Australian Dollar.

		  (ii)	 Interest Rate Risk
			�T   he Group obtains financing through bank borrowings, hire purchase and lease facilities. Its policy is 

to obtain the most favourable interest rates available.

			   Surplus funds are placed with licensed financial institutions at the most favourable interest rates.

		  (iii)	P rice Risk
			T   he Group does not have any quoted investment and hence is not exposed to price risk.

	 (b)	C redit Risk
		�T  he Group’s exposure to credit risks, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, arises mainly from  

receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risks is represented by the total carrying amount of 
these financial assets in the balance sheet reduced by the effects of any netting arrangements with 
counterparties.
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notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008

3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (cont’d)
	
	 (b)	C redit Risk (Cont’d)
		�T  he Group’s concentration of credit risks relates to the amounts owing by three major customers which 

made up approximately 31% of its total receivables at the balance sheet date.

		�T  he Group manages its exposure to credit risks by the application of credit approvals, credit limits and 
monitoring procedures on an ongoing basis.

	 (c)	L iquidity and Cash Flow Risks
		��T  he Group’s exposure to liquidity and cash flow risks arises mainly from general funding and business 

activities.

		�  It practises prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining sufficient cash balances and adequate 
working capital to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

4.	BA SIS OF PREPARATION
	�T he financial statements of the Group are prepared under the historical cost convention and modified to 

include other bases of valuation as disclosed in other sections under significant accounting policies, and in 
compliance with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia.

	 (a)	 During the current financial year, the Group has adopted the following:
		  (i)	 FRSs issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007:

			   FRS 107	 Cash Flow Statements
			   FRS 111	 Construction Contracts
			   FRS 112	 Income Taxes
			   FRS 118	 Revenue
			   FRS 120	 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
			   FRS 134	 Interim Financial Reporting
			   FRS 137	P rovisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
	
			�T   he adoption of the standards did not have any material impact on the form and content of disclosures 

presented in the financial statements.

		  (ii)	� Amendment to FRS 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - Net Investment in a 
Foreign Operation issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007. 

			�T   he adoption of this amendment did not have any material impact on the financial statements of the 
Group.

		  (iii)	� IC Interpretations issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007:

			   IC Interpretation 1	 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities 
			   IC Interpretation 2      	 Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments 
			   IC Interpretation 5      	� Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and 

Environmental Rehabilitation Funds 
			   IC Interpretation 6	�L iabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical 

and Electronic Equipment 
			   IC Interpretation 7	� Applying the Restatement Approach under FRS 1292004 Financial Reporting 

in Hyperinflationary Economies 
			   IC Interpretation 8	 Scope of FRS 2 

			T   he above IC Interpretations are not relevant to the Group’s operations.
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	 (b)	�T he Group has not adopted the following FRSs and IC Interpretations that have been issued as at the date 
of authorisation of these financial statements but are not yet effective for the Group:

		  (i)	� FRS issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009:

			   FRS 8		O  perating Segments

			�   FRS 8 replaces FRS 1142004 Segment Reporting and requires a management approach, under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. 
The adoption of this standard only impacts the form and content of disclosures presented in the 
financial statements of the Group. This FRS is expected to have no material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group upon its initial application.

		  (ii)	 FRSs issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010:

			   FRS 4		  Insurance Contracts
			   FRS 7		  Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
			   FRS 139	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

			�T   he Group considers financial guarantee contracts entered to be insurance arrangements and 
accounts for them under FRS 4. In this respect, the Group treats the guarantee contract as a 
contingent liability until such a time as it becomes probable that the Group will be required to make 
a payment under the guarantee. The adoption of FRS 4 is expected to have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

			�T   he possible impacts of applying FRS 7 and FRS 139 on the financial statements upon their initial 
applications are not disclosed by virtue of the exemptions given in these standards. 

		  (iii)	 IC Interpretations issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010:

			   IC Interpretation 9	  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 
			   IC Interpretation 10	  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 

			�   IC Interpretation 9 is not relevant to the Group’s operations. IC Interpretation 10 prohibits the 
impairment losses recognised in an interim period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments 
and in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. This 
interpretation is expected to have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group upon 
its initial application.

5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	 (a)	C ritical Accounting Estimates And Judgements
		�  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the directors and management and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and judgements that affect the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies and disclosures, and have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

		  (i)	 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
			�T   he estimates for the residual values, useful lives and related depreciation charges for the property, 

plant and equipment are based on commercial and production factors which could change significantly 
as a result of technical innovations and competitors’ actions in response to the market conditions.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (a)	C ritical Accounting Estimates And Judgements (Cont’d)

		  (i)	 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)
			�   Changes in the expected level of usage and technological development could impact the economic useful 

lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

		  (ii)	 Income Taxes
			�T   here are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may be different 

from the initial estimate. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on its understanding of the prevailing 
tax laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due in the ordinary course of business. Where the final 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

		  (iii)	 Impairment of Assets
			�   When the recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the estimate of the value-in-use of the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset is allocated, the management is required to make an estimate of 
the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to apply a suitable discount rate in 
order to determine the present value of those cash flows.

		  (iv)	 Amortisation of Development Costs
			�   Changes in the expected level of usage and technological development could impact the economic useful 

lives and therefore, future amortisation charges could be revised.

		  (v)	 Contracts
			�   Contracts accounting requires reliable estimation of the costs to complete the contract and reliable 

estimation of the stage of completion.

			   •	 Contract Revenue
				�    Contracts accounting requires that variation claims and incentives payments only be recognised as 

contract revenue to the extent that it is probable that they will be accepted by the customers. As the 
approval process often takes some time, a judgement is required to be made of its probability and 
revenue recognised accordingly.

			   •	 Contract Cost
				�U    sing experience gained on each particular contract and taking into account the expectations of the 

time and materials required to complete the contract management estimates the profitability of the 
contract on an individual basis any particular time.

		  (vi)	 Allowance for Doubtful Debts of Receivables
			�T   he Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of 

receivables. Allowances are applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Management specifically analyses historical bad debt, 
customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer 
payment terms when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful debts of 
receivables. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the 
carrying value of receivables.

		  (vii)	 Allowance for Slow-moving Inventories
			�   Reviews are made periodically by management on damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. These 

reviews require judgement and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to 
the valuation of inventories.

notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2008
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		  (viii)	Revaluation of Properties
			�T   he Group’s properties which are reported at valuation are based on valuations performed by independent 

professional valuers.

			�T   he independent professional valuers have exercised judgement in determining discount rates, estimates 
of future cash flows, capitalisation rate, terminal year value, market freehold rental and other factors used 
in the valuation process. Also, judgement has been applied in estimating prices for less readily observable 
external parameters. Other factors such as model assumptions, market dislocations and unexpected 
correlations can also materially affect these estimates and the resulting valuation estimates.

	
		  (ix)	 Contingent Liabilities
			�T   he directors’ are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of the contingent liabilities as it 

is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefit will be required.

		  (x)	 Share-based Payments 
			�T   he Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value 

of the equity investments at the date at which they are granted. The estimating of the fair value requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent 
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs 
to the valuation model including the expected life of the option volatility and dividend yield and making 
assumptions about them.

		  (xi)	 Fair Value Estimates for Certain Financial Assets and Liabilities
			�T   he Group carries certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, which requires extensive use of 

accounting estimates and judgement. While significant components of fair value measurement were 
determined using verifiable objective evidence, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group 
uses different valuation methodologies. Any changes in fair value of these assets and liabilities would 
affect profit and equity.

	 (b)	 Financial Instruments
		�  Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has become a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instruments.

		�  Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified 
as a liability, are reported as an expense or income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments 
classified as equity are charged directly to equity.

		�  Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to 
settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

		�  Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet are disclosed in the individual policy statement 
associated with each item.

	 (c)	 Functional and Foreign Currency

		�  (i)	 Functional and Presentation Currency
			�T   he functional currency of each of the Group’s entity is measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which that entity operates. 

			�T   he consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Group’s 
functional and presentation currency. 
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (c)	 Functional and Foreign Currency (Cont’d)

		   (ii)	T ransactions and Balances
			�T   ransactions in foreign currency are converted into RM at the approximate rates of exchange ruling at the 

transaction dates. Transactions in foreign currency are measured in the respective functional currencies 
of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at 
exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities at the 
balance sheet date are translated at the rates ruling as of that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated using exchange rates that existed when the values were determined. All exchange differences 
are taken to the income statement.

		  (iii)	 Foreign Operations
			�   Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 

acquisition of foreign operations, are translated to RM for consolidation at the rates of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into RM at the 
average rates for the financial year. All resulting exchange differences arising on translation are recognised 
as a separate component of equity. On disposal, accumulated translation differences are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

			�T   he principal closing foreign exchange rates used (expressed on the basis of one unit of foreign currency to 
Ringgit Malaysia equivalent) for the translation of foreign currency balances at the balance sheet date were 
as follows:

									         2008	 2007
									RM	RM         

			   Euro						     4.88	 4.88
			P   ound Sterling				    5.05	 7.00
			   Egyptian Pound				    0.64	 0.60
			U   nited States Dollar				    3.49	 3.40
			   Singapore Dollar				    2.42	 2.30
			   Australian Dollar				    2.41	 2.91
			   New Turkish Lira				    2.28	 2.81

	 (d)	B asis of Consolidation
		�T  he consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries 

made up to 31 December 2008.

		�  A subsidiary is defined as a company in which the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to exercise control 
over the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

		�  All subsidiaries are consolidated using the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method of 
accounting, the results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are included from the date of acquisition 
or up to the date of disposal. At the date of acquisition, the fair values of the subsidiary’s net assets are 
determined and these values are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The cost of acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination.

		�  Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated; unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of the subsidiary to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.
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		�  Minority interests in the consolidated balance sheet consist of the minorities’ share of fair values of the 
identifiable, assets and liabilities of the acquiree as at the date of acquisition and the minorities’ share of 
movements in the acquiree’s equity.

		�  Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet of the Group within equity, separately from the 
Company’s equity holders, and are separately disclosed in the consolidated income statement of the Group.

	 (e)	G oodwill on Consolidation
		�  Goodwill on consolidation represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration over the Group’s 

share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. 

		�  Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The carrying value of goodwill is 
reviewed for impairment annually. The impairment value of goodwill is recognised immediately in the consolidated 
income statement. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

		�  If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiaries 
exceeds the cost of the business combinations, the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated 
income statement.

	 (f)	R esearch and Development Expenditure
		�  Research expenditure is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. 

		�  Development expenditure is recognised as an expense except that expenditure incurred on development projects 
are capitalised as long-term assets to the extent that such expenditure is expected to generate future economic 
benefits. Development expenditure is capitalised if, and only if an entity can demonstrate all of the following:

		  (i)	 its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset under development;

		  (ii)	 the product or process is technically and commercially feasible;

		  (iii)	 its future economic benefits are probable;

		  (iv)	 its ability to use or sell the developed asset; and

		  (v)	� the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the asset under 
development.

		�  Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses, if any. Development expenditure initially recognised as an expense are not recognised as assets in the 
subsequent period.

		�T  he development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line method over a period of 5 years when the products 
are ready for sale or use. In the event that the expected future economic benefits are no longer probable of being 
recovered, the development expenditure is written down to its recoverable amount.

	 (g)	I ntangible Assets
		�  An intangible asset shall be recognised if, and only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits 

that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and that the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. An 
entity shall assess the probability of the expected future economic benefits using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over 
the useful life of the asset. An intangible asset shall be measured initially at cost.

		T  he useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (g)	I ntangible Assets (Cont’d)
		�  Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment 

whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year-
end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives 
is recognised in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible 
asset.

		�  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash 
generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite 
life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the 
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

	 (h)	I nvestments 
		  (i)	 Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates 
			�   Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost in the balance sheet of the Company, and 

are reviewed for impairment at the end of the financial year if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying values may not be recoverable.

			�O   n the disposal of the investments in subsidiaries and associates, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments is taken to the income statement.

		  (ii)	O ther Investments
			�O   ther investments held on a long-term basis are stated at cost less allowance for permanent diminution in 

value. 

			�O   n the disposal of these investments, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the investments is taken to the income statement.

	 (i)	A ssociates 
		�  An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term equity interest and where it exercises significant 

influence over the financial and operating policies.

		�T  he investments in associates in the consolidated financial statements are accounted for under the equity 
method, based on the financial statements of the associates made up to 31 December 2008. The Group’s 
share of the post acquisition profits of the associates is included in the consolidated income statement and the 
Group’s interest in associates is stated at cost plus the Group’s share of the post-acquisition retained profits 
and reserves.

		�U  nrealised gains on transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered.

	 (j)	P roperty, Plant and Equipment  
		�P  roperty, plant and equipment are stated at cost or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, if any.
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		�  Depreciation is calculated under the straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives.  Depreciation of an asset does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired 
from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

		  Building			   2%
		O  ffice equipment, furniture and fittings	 10% - 33.3%
		  Motor vehicles	 20%
		P  lant and machinery	 7.5% - 33%

		�T  he depreciation method, useful life and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of 
the property, plant and equipment.

		�  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset is included in the income 
statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

	 (k)	I mpairment of Assets 
		�T  he carrying values of assets, other than those to which FRS 136 - Impairment of Assets does not apply, 

are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment when there is an indication that the assets might 
be impaired. Impairment is measured by comparing the carrying values of the assets with their recoverable 
amounts. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher of the assets’ net selling price and its value-in-use, 
which is measured by reference to discounted future cash flow.

		�  An impairment loss is charged to the income statement immediately unless the asset is carried at its revalued 
amount. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of a 
previously recognised revaluation surplus for the same asset.

		�  In respect of assets other than goodwill, and when there is a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount, a subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of an asset is treated as a reversal of 
the previous impairment loss and is recognised to the extent of the carrying amount of the asset that would 
have been determined (net of amortisation and depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised. The 
reversal is recognised in the income statement immediately, unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount. 
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to the revaluation surplus. However, to 
the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the 
income statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the income statement. 

	 (l)	A ssets under Hire Purchase and Lease 
		�L  eases of plant and equipment where substantially all the benefits and risk of ownership are transferred to the 

Group are classified as finance leases.

		P  lant and equipment acquired under finance lease and hire purchase are capitalised in the financial statements.

		�  Each lease or hire purchase payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a 
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding outstanding obligations due under the finance 
lease and hire purchase after deducting finance charges are included as liabilities in the financial statements.

		�  Finance charges are allocated to the income statement over the period of the respective lease and hire purchase 
agreements.

		�P  lant and equipment acquired under finance leases and hire purchase are depreciated over the useful lives of 
the assets. If there is no reasonable certainty that the ownership will be transferred to the Group, the assets 
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and their useful lives.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (m)	O perating Leases 
		�L  eases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 

are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentive received from 
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease period. When an operating 
lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way 
of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

	 (n)	P repaid Land Lease Payments 
		�L  eases of land under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified 

as operating leases. Lease prepayments for land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the leases of 24 years.

	 (o)	N on-Current Assets held for Sale 
		�  Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use 

are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets or components of 
a disposal group are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the 
assets or disposal group are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

		�  Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement 
are recognised in income statement. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

	 (p)	C oncession Assets
		�  Items classified as concession assets comprise Electronic Passport System (“EPS”) and Solid Waste Disposal 

and Electricity Power Generation Plant.

		  (i)	 Electronic Passport System
			�   EPS comprises computer hardware, software development and special equipment (to provide a fully 

integrated and highly secure system for production, issuance and authentication of e-passports) incurred 
in connection with the concession.

			�   EPS is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The policy for the recognition 
and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 5(k) to the financial statements.

			�T   he amortisation formula applied in the preparation of the financial statements to arrive at the annual 
amortisation charge for each financial period is as follows:

			   Cumulative Inlay Revenue To-date 	 x	 Cumulative Actual   	 - 	 Accumulated
			P   rojected Total Inlay Revenue of 		  Development           		  Amortisation
		     	T he Concession  		  Expenditure                  		T  o-date

		  (ii)	 Solid Waste Disposal and Electricity Power Generation Plant
			�T   he development expenditure comprises design, construction and maintenance expenditure of a 60-ton per 

day rated-capacity solid waste disposal and 1,500 kilowatt electricity generation plant in connection with 
the concession.

			�   Incinerator plant is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The policy for the 
recognition and measurement with Note 5(k) to the financial statements.

	
			�T   he annual amortisation in respect of the plant is computed on a straight-line basis over a 12-year 

concession period. 
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	 (q)	G overnment Grants 
		�  Government grants which relate to the cost of development expenditure and brand promotion are recognised on 

a receivable basis, and are set off against the related advertisement and promotional expenses.

	 (r)	I ntellectual Property 
		�T  he intellectual property consists of the acquisition cost of the exclusive rights of a suite of software modules, 

including the trademarks, copyright, source codes and associated documentation. The acquisition cost is 
capitalised as an intangible asset as it is able to generate future economic benefits to the Group.

		�T  he intellectual property is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of 20 years during which its 
economic benefits are expected to be consumed.

		�  When the indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount is assessed and written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount.

	 (s)	P romissory Notes
		�P  romissory notes represent non-interest bearing promissory notes issued by a subsidiary namely IRIS 

Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd which are redeemable commencing from 2005 to 2009. Promissory notes are 
recognised at cost when the contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from the subsidiary is 
established.

		�P  romissory notes are classified as current assets unless the subsidiary has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

	 (t)	R evaluation Reserve
		�T  he revaluation of the building is undertaken periodically whenever the fair value of the revalued assets is 

expected to differ materially from their carrying value. Surpluses arising from the revaluation of properties are 
credited to the revaluation reserve account. Deficits arising from the revaluation, to the extent that they are not 
supported by any previous revaluation surpluses, are charged to the income statement.

		�  In the year of disposal of the revalued asset, the attributable remaining revaluation surplus is transferred from 
the revaluation reserve account to retained profits.

	 (u)	I nventories
		�  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average 

basis, and comprises the purchase price and incidentals incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress includes the cost of materials, labour and 
an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

		�  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

		  Where necessary, due allowance is made for all damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items.

	 (v)	A mounts Due By/To Contract Customers
		�T  he amounts due by/to contract customers are stated at cost plus profits attributable to contracts in progress 

less progress billings and allowance for foreseeable losses, if any. Cost includes direct materials, labour and 
applicable overheads.

	 (w)	R eceivables
		�  Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are 

identified. An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the balance 
sheet date.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (x)	P ayables
		�P  ayables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and 

services received.

	 (y)	P rovisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
		�P  rovisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past events, when it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where effect of the time value of money is material, the provision 
is the present value of the estimated expenditure required to settle the obligation.

		�  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It 
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that 
outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

		�  A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change 
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

		�  A contingent asset is a probable asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of the 
Group.

	 (z)	I nterest-bearing Borrowings 
		�T  he interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs.

		  All borrowing costs are charged to the income statement as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

	 (aa)	B onds
		�  Bonds issued by the Company are initially recognised based on proceeds received, net of issuance expenses 

incurred and are adjusted in subsequent years for amortisation of premium and/or accretion of discount to 
maturity, using the effective yield method. The premium amortised and/or discount accreted is recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the bonds.

	 (ab)	I ncome Taxes
		  Income taxes for the year comprise current and deferred tax. 

		�  Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is 
measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

		�  Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

		�  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than those that arise from 
goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the business combination costs or from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

		�  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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		�  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

		�  Deferred tax is recognised in the income statement, except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised 
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to equity, or when it arises 
from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included in the resulting 
goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the business combination costs. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

	 (ac)	E quity Instruments  
		�O  rdinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 

options as shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.
	
		  Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when approved for appropriation.

	 (ad)	C ash and Cash Equivalents  
		�  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, deposits pledged with 

financial institutions, bank overdrafts and short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 (ae)	E mployee Benefits 
		  (i)	 Short-term Benefits
			�   Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which 

the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.

		  (ii)	 Defined Contribution Plans
			�T   he Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the period 

to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further liability in respect of 
the defined contribution plans.

		  (iii)	 Share-based Payment Transactions
			�   At grant date, the fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to 
the options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options 
that are expected to vest.

			�T   he share options granted to the directors and employees of the Group are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. The Group makes a charge to the income statement in connection with expenses 
relating to share based payments from grant date to vesting date. The Group has adopted FRS 2 - Share-
based Payment, to the Group’s ESOS which are treated as equity settled. Reserves are made for equity 
settled share-based compensation according to the requirement of FRS 2.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
	 (af)	R elated Parties  
		�  A party is related to an entity if:

		  (i)	 directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party:
			   •	� controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the  entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries 

and fellow subsidiaries);
			   •	 has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the entity; or
			   •	 has joint control over the entity;

		  (ii)	 the party is an associate of the entity;

		  (iii)	 the party is a joint venture in which the entity is a venture;

		  (iv)	 the party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or its parent;

		  (v)	 the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

		  (vi)	� the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant 
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e) or;

		  (vii)	� the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the entity, or of any entity that 
is a related party of the entity.

		�  Close members of the family of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

	 (ag)	R evenue Recognition  
		  (i) 	 Sale of Goods
			�   Revenue is recognised upon delivery of goods and customers’ acceptance and where applicable, net of 

returns and trade discounts.

		  (ii)	 Services
			�   Revenue is recognised upon rendering of services and when the outcome of the transaction can be 

estimated reliably. In the event the outcome of the transaction could not be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised to the extent of the expenses incurred that are recoverable.

		  (iii)	 Interest Income
			   Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the effective yield on the investment.
	
		  (iv)	 Contract Revenue
			�   Revenue on contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method unless the outcome of the 

contract cannot be reliably determined, in which case revenue on contracts is only recognised to the extent 
of contract costs incurred that are recoverable. Foreseeable losses, if any, are provided for in full as and 
when it can be reasonably ascertained that the contract will result in a loss.

			T   he stage of completion is determined based on completion of a physical proportion of the contract work.

		  (v)	 Rental Income
			   Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

		  (vii)	 Royalty Income 
			�   Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 

agreement.
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	 (ah)	 Segmental Information  
		�  Segment revenue and expenses are those directly attributable to the segments and include any joint revenue 

and expenses where a reasonable basis of allocation exists. Segment assets include all assets used by a 
segment and consist principally of plant and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation, where applicable), 
other investments, inventories, receivables and cash and bank balances.

		�  Most segment assets can be directly attributed to the segments on a reasonable basis. Segment assets do not 
include income tax assets, whilst segment liabilities do not include income tax liabilities and borrowings from 
financial institutions.

		�  Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between segments. The prices charged on intersegment 
transactions are based on normal commercial terms. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

6.	INVE STMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

			    		T  he Company 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	U nquoted shares, at cost				    190,156	 190,023
	 Accumulated impairment losses				    (9,729)	 (9,729)

									         180,427	 180,294

	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

				      		           	        Effective Equity
							                  Interest	
						C      ountry of	 2008	 2007	
	N ame of Company		I ncorporation	 %	 %	P rincipal Activities

	TL  Automation 		  Malaysia	 75	 75	 Dormant.
 	   Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd *#

	 Asiatronics Sdn Bhd *# 	 Malaysia	 80	 80	 Dormant.

	TL  Technology Research (Aust)	 Australia	 100	    100	 Dormant.
	   Pty Limited *## 

	 IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Research, development and
	   (“IRIS Tech”)						       �manufacturing of contact and
									           �contactless smart technology
									           �based products.

	 IRIS Corporation North	U nited States
	   America Ltd *		  of America	 100	 100	 Dormant.
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6.	INVE STMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

				      		           	        Effective Equity
							                  Interest	
						C      ountry of	 2008	 2007	
	N ame of Company		I ncorporation	 %	 %	P rincipal Activities

	 IRIS Egypt LLC*		  Egypt	 75	 -	P rovision of products, services,
									           �maintenance and solutions for 
									           identity security documents,
									           biometrics information 
									           technology and communication 
									           in Egypt.

	 Capillary Agrotech (Malaysia)	 Malaysia	 100	 100	P rofessional design, construction
	   Sdn Bhd 						        and maintenance of automatic
									           watering and feeding system for
									           agricultural horticultural and 
									           other purposes.
				  
	 IRIS Information Technology	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Maintaining and servicing
	   Systems Sdn Bhd^				      autogate, image retrieval 
									           identification system (I.R.I.S)  
									           and marketing of contract and 
									           contactless smart technology
									           based products.

	V ersatile P4 Power 	 Malaysia	 51	 51	 Manufacture, supply and trading
	   Resources Sdn Bhd^				      of power and energy related
									           equipment, the manufacture 
									           and supply of incinerators and
									           the manufacture and supply of 
									           desalination equipment.

	 *	 Not audited by Messrs. Horwath.
	 ^	 Held through IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd
	 #	 On 6 October 2008, the Company filed a Members Voluntary Winding Up and the winding up is in progress.
	 ##	� On 21 December 2007, the Company has filed a Creditors Voluntary Liquidation and the winding up is in 

progress. 

	�T he winding up and liquidation of the three companies have no material financial impact on the Group as the companies 
were dormant.
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7.	INVE STMENT IN ASSOCIATES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	U nquoted shares, at cost 		  7,014	 7,014	 5,814	 5,814
	 Share of post acquisition loss		  (791)	 (793)	 -	 -

	 At 31 December			   6,223	 6,221	 5,814	 5,814
														          
	 Details of the associates are as follows:

				      		           	        Effective Equity
							                  Interest	
						C      ountry of	 2008	 2007	
	N ame of Company		I ncorporation	 %	 %	P rincipal Activities

	 GMPC Corporation Sdn Bhd *#	 Malaysia	 25	 20	P rovision of multi-purpose Smart
									           Cards to the Malaysian
									           Government.

	 Multimedia Display Technologies	 Malaysia	 44.4	 44.4	 Research, development,
	   Sdn Bhd *						        marketing and distribution of 
									           CRT/LCD display monitors and
									           Radio frequency identity system
									           (RFID). 
			 
	L oyalty Wizards Sdn Bhd *#	 Malaysia	 20	 20	P rovision of solutions for loyalty
									           management program.
				  
	P aysys (M) Sdn Bhd *	 Malaysia	 30	 30	P rovision of terminals and 
									           solutions for credit card 
									           transactions.

	 *	� Equity accounting was done based on the management financial statements as the audited financial statements 
of these companies were not available.

	 #	 Held through IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd

	T he Group’s share of the associated companies’ revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	A ssets and Liabilities		
	T otal assets				    11,625	 12,414	 6,864	 6,655
	T otal liabilities			   6,512	 7,716	 1,522	 1,858
							     
	R esults
	 Revenue					     25,184	 17,091	 5,036	 3,186
	P rofit/(Loss) for the year		  2	 (45)	 (106)	 29
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8.	PROPERTY , PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

															R               eclassified To
												R            eclassified			N   on-current
								                At				    From		D  epreciation	A sset Held	A t	
								        1.1.2008	A dditions	D isposals	R eversal	I nventories	R eclassification	C harge	 For Sale	 31.12.2008
	 The Group					        Rm’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	    Rm’000	R m’000	   Rm’000  

	 NET BOOK VALUE									      
	 Building
	 - at cost						      53,634	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (1,061)	 (52,573)	 -
	 - at valuation					    3,559	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (79)	 (3,480)	 -
	O ffice equipment, furniture and fittings		  7,476	 731	 (258)	 -	 -	 (34)	 (1,785)	 -	 6,130
	 Motor vehicles				    591	 351	 (95)	 -	 -	 -	 (235)	 -	 612
	P lant and machinery			   39,162	 2,796	 (174)	 (466)	 1,027	 34	 (9,655)	 -	 32,724

								        104,422	 3,878	 (527)	 (466)	 1,027	 -	 (12,815)	 (56,053)	 39,466

										                  At					D     epreciation	A t
										          1.1.2007	A dditions	D isposals	R eclassification	R eversal	C harge	 31.12.2007
	 The Group							          Rm’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	    Rm’000	   Rm’000  

	 NET BOOK VALUE							    
	 Building									       
	 - at cost								        53,938	 -	 -	 626	 -	 (930)	 53,634
	 - at valuation							      4,394	 -		  (626)	 -	 (209)	 3,559
	O ffice equipment, furniture and  fittings				    8,076	 1,668	 (12)		  (182)	 (2,074)	 7,476
	 Motor vehicles						      642	 145	 -	 -	 20	 (216)	 591
	P lant and machinery					     35,878	 8,613	 (45)	 -	 1,957	 (7,241)	 39,162

										          102,928	 10,426	 (57)	 -	 1,795	 (10,670)	 104,422

				A    t	A ccumulated	      Net Book
   			C   ost	V aluation	D epreciation	      Value
	T he Group		RM  ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 AT 31.12.2008				  

	O ffice equipment, furniture and fitting		 16,471	 -	 (10,341)	 6,130
	 Motor vehicles			   1,434	 -	 (822)	 612
	P lant and machinery		  82,565	 -	 (49,841)	 32,724

							       100,470	 -	 (61,004)	 39,466

	 AT 31.12.2007				  

	 Building					     56,424	 4,181	    (3,412)	 57,193
	O ffice equipment, furniture and fitting		 16,466	 -	 (8,990)	 7,476
	 Motor vehicles			   1,444	 -	 (853)	 591
	P lant and machinery		  79,567	 -	 (40,405)	 39,162

							       153,901	 4,181	   (53,660)	 104,422
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8.	PROPERTY , PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

															R               eclassified To
												R            eclassified			N   on-current
								                At				    From		D  epreciation	A sset Held	A t	
								        1.1.2008	A dditions	D isposals	R eversal	I nventories	R eclassification	C harge	 For Sale	 31.12.2008
	 The Group					        Rm’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	    Rm’000	R m’000	   Rm’000  

	 NET BOOK VALUE									      
	 Building
	 - at cost						      53,634	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (1,061)	 (52,573)	 -
	 - at valuation					    3,559	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (79)	 (3,480)	 -
	O ffice equipment, furniture and fittings		  7,476	 731	 (258)	 -	 -	 (34)	 (1,785)	 -	 6,130
	 Motor vehicles				    591	 351	 (95)	 -	 -	 -	 (235)	 -	 612
	P lant and machinery			   39,162	 2,796	 (174)	 (466)	 1,027	 34	 (9,655)	 -	 32,724

								        104,422	 3,878	 (527)	 (466)	 1,027	 -	 (12,815)	 (56,053)	 39,466

										                  At					D     epreciation	A t
										          1.1.2007	A dditions	D isposals	R eclassification	R eversal	C harge	 31.12.2007
	 The Group							          Rm’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	    Rm’000	   Rm’000  

	 NET BOOK VALUE							    
	 Building									       
	 - at cost								        53,938	 -	 -	 626	 -	 (930)	 53,634
	 - at valuation							      4,394	 -		  (626)	 -	 (209)	 3,559
	O ffice equipment, furniture and  fittings				    8,076	 1,668	 (12)		  (182)	 (2,074)	 7,476
	 Motor vehicles						      642	 145	 -	 -	 20	 (216)	 591
	P lant and machinery					     35,878	 8,613	 (45)	 -	 1,957	 (7,241)	 39,162

										          102,928	 10,426	 (57)	 -	 1,795	 (10,670)	 104,422

				A    t	A ccumulated	      Net Book
   			C   ost	V aluation	D epreciation	      Value
	T he Group		RM  ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 AT 31.12.2008				  

	O ffice equipment, furniture and fitting		 16,471	 -	 (10,341)	 6,130
	 Motor vehicles			   1,434	 -	 (822)	 612
	P lant and machinery		  82,565	 -	 (49,841)	 32,724

							       100,470	 -	 (61,004)	 39,466

	 AT 31.12.2007				  

	 Building					     56,424	 4,181	    (3,412)	 57,193
	O ffice equipment, furniture and fitting		 16,466	 -	 (8,990)	 7,476
	 Motor vehicles			   1,444	 -	 (853)	 591
	P lant and machinery		  79,567	 -	 (40,405)	 39,162

							       153,901	 4,181	   (53,660)	 104,422
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8.	PROPERTY , PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

				A    t				D    epreciation	A t
				    1.1.2008	A dditions	R eclassification	D isposals	C harge	 31.12.2008
	 The Company	R m’000	R m’000	R m’000	R m‘000	R m’000	R m’000

	 NET BOOK 
	   VALUE						    
	O ffice 
	   equipment, 
	   furniture and 
	   fittings				   1,318	 295	 (34)	 (237)	 (528)	 814
	 Motor vehicles		  346	 351	 -	 (95)	 (128)	 474
	P lant and 
	   machinery			   144	 -	 34	 (174)	 (1)	 3

					     1,808	 646	 -	 (506)	 (657)	 1,291

					A     t			D   epreciation	A t
					     1.1.2007	A dditions	D isposals	C harge	 31.12.2007
	 The Company		R  m’000	R m’000	R m‘000	R m’000	R m’000

	 NET BOOK VALUE						    
	O ffice equipment, 
	   furniture and fittings		  1,291	 690	  (11)	 (652)	 1,318
	 Motor vehicles				   308	 145	    -	 (107)	 346
	P lant and machinery		  82	 178	         (34)	 (82)	 144

							       1,681	 1,013	         (45)	 (841)	 1,808

								A        ccumulated	N et Book
  							C       ost	D epreciation	V alue
	 The Company				R    m‘000	R m’000	R m’000

	 AT 31.12.2008			 
	O ffice equipment, furniture and fittings			   3,748	 (2,934)	 814
	 Motor vehicles					     735	 (261)	 474
	P lant and machinery				    5	 (2)	 3

									         4,488	 (3,197)	 1,291

	 AT 31.12.2007			 
	O ffice equipment, furniture and  fittings			   4,128	 (2,810)	 1,318
	 Motor vehicles					     745	 (399)	 346
	P lant and machinery				    450	 (306)	 144

									         5,323	 (3,515)	 1,808

	� All the property, plant and equipment have been pledged to financial institutions as security for banking facilities granted 
to a subsidiary of the Company and the bonds issued by them as disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

	�O n 31 December 2004, the property was revalued by the directors using the open market value basis based on the 
valuation carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.
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	� At the balance sheet date, the net book values of the following assets of the Group and of the Company were acquired 
under hire purchase and finance lease terms.

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	O ffice equipment			  166	 352	 -	 -
	 Motor vehicles			   608	 562	 474	 346
	P lant and machinery		  13,632	 17,228	 -	 -

9.	PREPAID  LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

			    			T   he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 At surrogate cost					    7,193	 7,193
	 Accumulated amortisation				    -	 (925)
	 Reclassified as non-current assets held for sale (Note 24)		  (7,193)	 -

									         -	 6,268

	 Accumulated amortisation:				  
	 At 1 January						      (925)	 (616)
	 Amortisation for the financial year				    (308)	 (309)
	 Reclassified as non-current assets held for sale (Note 24)		  1,233		 -

	 At 31 December					     -	 (925)

	�T he leasehold land has been pledged as security for banking facilities granted to the Group and the Company.

10. 	CONCESSION ASSETS

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Electronic Passport System		  6,875	 5,669	 6,875	 5,669
	 Solid Waste Disposal and Electricity							     
	   Power Generation Plant		  16,350	 10,129	 16,500	 10,129

							       23,225	 15,798	 23,375	 15,798
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10. 	CONCESSION ASSETS (cont’d)
	 Details of the Concession Assets are as follows:

			    	  	 Solid Waste
					D     isposal And	
				E    lectronic	E lectricity Power
				P    assport System	G eneration Plant	T otal
	T he Group			RM   ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 COST:					   
	 At 1 January 2007				   -	 -	 -
	 Addition						      5,669	 10,129	 15,798

	 At 31 December 2007/1 January 2008			   5,669	 10,129	 15,798
	 Addition						      1,494	 6,221	 7,715

								        7,163	 16,350	 23,513
	 Accumulated amortisation:	       		   (288)	 -	  (288)

	 At 31 December 2008			   6,875	 16,350	 23,225

	T he Company
	 COST:					   
	 At 1 January 2007				   -	 -	 -
	 Addition						      5,669	 10,129	 15,798

	 At 31 December 2007/1 January 2008			   5,669	 10,129	 15,798
	 Addition						      1,494	 6,371	 7,865

								        7,163	 16,500	 23,663
	 Accumulated amortisation:	    		      (288)	 -	  (288)

	 NBV at 31 December 2008			   6,875	 16,500	 23,375

	� At 31 December 2008, no amorti	sation had been made for solid waste disposal and electricity power generation plant 
as construction of the concession asset is still in progress.

11.	DEVELOPMENT COSTS

			    	               	The Group/The Company 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 At 1 January						      19,832	 16,800
	 Capitalised during the financial year				    -	 3,032

	 At 31 December					     19,832	 19,832
	 Government grants				    (371)	 -
				  
	 Amortisation of development costs:			 
	 At 1 January						      (9,554)	 (7,917)
	 Amortisation charge				    (2,552)	 (1,637)

	 At 31 December 					     (12,106)	 (9,554)
	
									         7,355	 10,278



Iris Corporation berhad
annual report 2008

page 081

12.	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTies

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 At cost					     28,154	 28,151	 12,851	 12,851

	 Accumulated amortisation							     
 	 As at 1 January			   (13,278)	 (11,899)	 (5,883)	 (5,268)
 	 Charge during the financial year		  (1,380)	 (1,380)	 (615)	 (615)

	 As at 31 December		  (14,658)	 (13,279)	 (6,498)	 (5,883)

							       13,496	 14,872	 6,353	 6,968

13.	PROMISSORY NOTES

			    	           	  The Company
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Repayment due within next 12 months			   9,000	 8,500
	 Repayment later than one year but not later than 2 years		  -	 9,000

									         9,000	 17,500

	�T he above represents non-interest bearing promissory notes of RM43,000,000 issued by IRIS Technologies 
(M) Sdn Bhd (“IRIS Tech”) which are redeemable commencing 2005 to 2009. This is to ensure that the 
Company can meet its commitments over bond redemptions from 2005 to 2009. The promissory notes are 
secured by a fixed charge over IRIS Tech’s receivables and the proceeds from certain projects.

14.	OTHER INVESTMENTS

			    	               	The Group/The Company 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	U nquoted shares, at cost 				  
	 - in Malaysia						      2,378	 2,378
	 - in Hong Kong					     981	 981
	 Club membership  				    406	 406
	
									         3,765	 3,765
	L ess: Impairment loss in value				    (3,359)	 (3,359)

									         406	 406

	�T he fair value of the investment in a golf club membership as at the balance sheet date was RM406,400 (2007 
- RM406,400) estimated based on the subscription price offered to the new members.
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15.	GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd				    128,268	 128,268
	 Capillary Agrotech (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd				   5,714	 5,714
	O thers							       -	 144

									         133,982	 134,126

	� During the financial year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of purchased goodwill, and determined 
that goodwill is not impaired.

	� For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit identified 
according to the business segment. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based 
on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a period of five years. The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are:

			    	               	    	G ross Margin	G rowth Rate	D iscount Rate
							       2008	 2007	 2008	 2007	 2008	 2007

	 IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd		  21%	 20%	 2%	 2% 	 6.6%	 6.6% 
	 Capillary Agrotech (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd		  40%	 40%	 10%	 10% 	 6%	 6% 

	 (a) Budgeted gross margin	�	T he basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross 
margin is the average gross margins achieved in the year immediately before 
the budgeted year increased for expected efficiency improvements and cost 
saving measures.

	 (b) Growth rate		�P  re-tax cash flow projections based on the most recent financial budgets 
approved by the management covering a five year period based on the above 
stipulated growth rate.

	 (c) Discount rate		T  he discount rate used is based on the average borrowing rates.
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16.	INVENTORIES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 AT COST:							    
	 Raw materials			   28,683	 43,884	 8,439	 22,832
	 Work in progress			   5,384	 10,639	 -	 -
	 Finished goods			   36,713	 32,139	 14,764	 7,275

							       70,780	 86,662	 23,203	 30,107

	 Allowance for slow-moving inventories:							    
	 At 1 January 				   (10,848)	 (8,173)	 (4,453)	 (2,417)
	 Addition for the financial year		  (311)	 (2,675)	 -	 (2,036)
	O verprovision in the previous financial year	 10,359	 -	 4,453		 -

	 At 31 December			   (800)	 (10,848)	 -	 (4,453)

							       69,980	 75,814	 23,203	 25,654

	 None of the inventories is carried at net realisable value.

17.	TRADE  RECEIVABLES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	T rade receivables			  102,662	 86,153	 49,392	 28,723
	 Allowance for doubtful debts		  (1,061)	 (6,917)	 (1,041)	 (2,524)

							       101,601	 79,236	 48,351	 26,199

	 Allowance for doubtful debts							     
	 At 1 January				    (6,917)	 (4,915)	 (2,524)	 (1,825)
	 Addition for the financial year		  -	 (2,782)	 -	 (1,479)
	 Written off during the financial year		  5,741	 -	 1,473	 -
	 Writeback during the financial year		  115	 780	 10	 780

	 At 31 December			   (1,061)	 (6,917)	 (1,041)	 (2,524)
							     
	�T he Group and the Company’s normal trade credit terms range from 30 to 60 days. Other credit terms are 

assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.
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18.	AMOUNTS OWING BY/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS
	 �The following tabulation of construction contracts shows the elements included in the amounts due from and due to 

the contract customers:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Aggregate costs incurred to date		  144,250	 41,624	 70,770	 27,693
	 Attributable profit			   45,430	 11,158	 53,958	  11,158

							       189,680	 52,782	 124,728	  38,851
	 Foreseeable losses		  (8,711)	 (989)	 -	 -
	P rogress billings			   (182,702)	 (37,257)	 (127,935)	  (34,232)

							       (1,732)	 14,536	 (3,207)	  4,619

	 Represented by:							     
	 Due by contract customers	     	  6,783	 14,536	 5,150	 4,619
	 Due to contract customers 		  (8,515)	 -	 (8,357)		

							       (1,732)	 14,536	 (3,207)	  4,619

	 Amount of contract revenue recognised 
	   as revenue during the financial year 
	   (Note 40)				    135,315	 47,386	 93,702	 34,232
							     
	 Amount of contract costs recognised 
	   as expenses during the financial year 
	   (Note 41)				    93,464	 36,260	 53,041	 23,075

19.	OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	O ther receivables			   28,785	 14,000	 14,673	 56
	 Deposits					     1,058	 6,999	 645	 1,322
	P repayments				    8,493	 12,001	 2,665	 5,832

							       38,336	 33,000	 17,983	 7,210
	 Allowance for doubtful debts		  -	 (2,660)	 -	 -

							       38,336	 30,340	 17,983	 7,210

	�O ther receivables represent amounts advanced for projects which have credit terms based on the completion period 
of each project.

	� Included in the prepayments of the Group and the Company are RM2,593,487 (2007 - RM4,212,230) and RM1,683,944 
(2007 - RM2,806,573) respectively representing the amount discounted from the proceeds from the issue of bonds 
which will be amortised over the repayment period of 7 years from the issue date.
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20.	AMOUNTs OWING BY/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

			    	           	T he Company
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Amount owing by:				 
	 - trade balances					     19,906	 12,188
	 - non-trade balances				    19,255	 4,742

									         39,161	  16,930

	 Amount owing to:				 
	 - trade balances					     (55,843)	 (33,116)
	 - non-trade balances				    (9,971)	 -

									         (65,814)	   (33,116)

	�T he amounts owing are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and to be settled in cash.

21.	AMOUNT OWING BY ASSOCIATES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Amount owing by:							     
	 - trade balances			   3,228	 7,070	 -	 -
  	   Less: allowance for doubtful debts		  (800)	 -	 -	 -

							       2,428	 7,070
	 - non-trade balances		  -	 8	 -	 8

							       2,428	 7,078	 -	 8

	T he amount owing is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and to be settled in cash.

22.	AMOUNTS OWING BY/(TO) RELATED PARTIES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Amount owing by:							     
	 - trade balances			   20	 18	 -	 18
	 - non-trade balances		  229	 76	 193	 76

							       249	 94	 193	 94

	 Amount owing to:							     
	 - trade balances			   (89)	 (103)	 (81)	 (103)
	 - non-trade balances		  (224)	 -	 (188)	 -

							       (313)	 (103)	 (269)	 (103)

The amounts owing are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and to be settled in cash.
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23.	DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Short-term deposit with a licensed bank		 2,874	 -	 2,212	 65
	 Fixed deposits with licensed banks		  14,554	 13,782	 11,155	 9,403

	T otal 						     17,428	 13,782	 13,367	 9,468

	� Deposits with licensed banks of the Group and the Company amounting to RM15,280,511 (2007 - RM13,781,946) 
and RM11,219,706 (2007 - RM9,468,475) respectively are charged to the bank for credit facilities granted to the 
Group and the Company.

	�T he weighted average effective interest rates of the deposits at the balance sheet date ranged from 1.75% to 3.60% 
(2007 - 3.09% to 4.50%). The fixed deposits have maturity periods of 1 to 365 (2007 - 6 to 365) days.

24.	NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (Note 8)			   56,053	 -
	 Reclassified from prepaid land lease payments (Note 9)			   5,960	 -

									         62,013	 -

	� IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd (“IRIS Tech”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICB, had on 11 July 2007 accepted a 
Conditional Letter of Offer issued by Mapletree dated 9 July 2007 for the proposed disposal and leaseback of two 
plots of leasehold land and a four (4) and a half storey office and manufacturing building bearing the postal address 
Lot 8 & 9, IRIS Smart Technology Complex, Technology Park Malaysia, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur with an 
estimated land area of approximately 188,179 sq ft to Mapletree for a consideration of RM91.5 million.

	� Both IRIS Tech and Mapletree Industrial Fund Ltd have mutually agreed to extend the negotiation period on the terms 
of the definitive Sale and Purchase Agreement up to 18 June 2009. 

	�T he property at the balance sheet date was revalued in 31 December 2004 by an independent firm of professional 
valuers using the open market basis.

	T he property at the balance sheet date has been pledged as security for bank borrowings.

25.	SHARE CAPITAL

			    	                         The Company 
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			                           Number Of Share
	 Authorised		  ’000	 ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	O rdinary shares of RM0.15 each:		  2,500,000	 2,500,000	 375,000	 375,000
	 Non-cumulative Irredeemable						    
	   Convertible Preference Shares (“ICPS”)  
	   of RM0.15 each			   700,000	 700,000	 105,000	 105,000

							       3,200,000	 3,200,000	 480,000	 480,000
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			    	                         The Company 
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			                           Number Of Share
	 Issued And Fully Paid-up:		  ’000	 ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	O rdinary Share of RM0.15 each						    
	 At 1 January				    1,368,642	 1,158,458	 205,296	 173,769
	 Issuance of shares pursuant to:						    
	 - ESOS					     -	 6,192	 -	 929
	 - conversion of ICPS to ordinary shares		  35,879	 79,992	 5,382	 11,998
	 - warrants exercised during the financial year	 -	 *	 -	 *
	 - private placement		  -	 124,000	 -	 18,600

	 At 31 December			   1,404,521	 1,368,642	 210,678	 205,296

	 Non-cumulative Redeemable Convertible 
	   Preference Shares (“ICPS”) of RM0.15 each					   
	 At 1 January				    74,129	 154,121	 11,120	 23,118
	 Conversion to ordinary shares		  (35,879)	 (79,992)	 (5,382)	 (11,998)

	 At end of the year			   38,250	 74,129	 5,738	 11,120

	TOT AL					     1,442,771	 1,442,771	 216,416	 216,416

	 *  - Below 1,000

	� During the financial year, 35,878,752 non-cumulative irredeemable convertible preference shares of (“ICPS”) of 
RM0.15 each were converted into 35,878,752 ordinary shares. The new shares which arose from the conversion of 
the ICPS rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.

	 Non-cumulative Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares 
	� On 27th June 2006, the Company issued 368,343,533 units of 3% Non-cumulative Irredeemable Convertible 

Preference Shares (“ICPS”) at RM0.15 each. The salient terms of the ICPS are as follows:

	 a)	�T he ICPS are unsecured and shall rank pari passu amongst all ICPS in all respects and without discrimination 
or preference;

	 b)	�T he ICPS are not redeemable for cash. Unless previously converted, all ICPS will be mandatorily converted into 
new ICB shares at the Conversion Price on the Maturity Date of the ICPS;

	 c)	T he tenure of the ICPS is five (5) years commencing from and inclusive of the date of issue (27th June 2006);

	 d) 	�T he ICPS are entitled to an annual non-cumulative preferential dividend rate of 3% per annum upon declaration 
calculated based on the nominal value of RM0.15 per ICPS;

	 e)	�P referential dividends on the ICPS shall be payable on an ICPS dividend date up to the maturity date. ICPS 
dividend date means the market day immediately before the ICPS anniversary date of the issue date and if such 
anniversary date falls on the date which is not a market day, than the next market day;

	 f)	�T he registered holder of the ICPS has the right to convert the ICPS at the conversion price into new ordinary 
shares of RM0.15 each in ICB or at any time from the date of listing up to and including the maturity date of the 
ICPS;
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25.	SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)
	N on-cumulative Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares (Cont’d)
	 g)	T he conversion price is fixed at RM0.15 per share; 

	 h)	�T he conversion price shall be satisfied by surrendering one (1) ICPS for each new ordinary share in ICB;

	 i)	�T he ICPS shall carry no right to vote at any general meeting of ICB except with regard to any proposal to reduce 
the capital of ICB, to dispose of the whole of ICB’s property, business and undertaking, to wind up ICB, during 
the winding-up of ICB and on any proposal that affects the rights attached to the ICPS. In such cases, the 
holders of ICPS shall be entitled to vote together with the holders of ordinary shares and to one (1) vote for each 
ICPS held; Each ICPS shall entitle a holder to one (1) vote at any class meeting in relation to any proposal by ICB 
to vary or abrogate the rights of the ICPS as stated in the Articles of Association of ICB. In all class meetings, 
each ICPS shall entitle the holder to one (1) vote;

	 j) 	�T he new ICB shares to be issued upon conversion of the ICPS shall upon allotment and issue, rank pari passu 
in all respects with ICB’s existing shares except that such new ICB shares shall not be entitled to any dividends, 
rights, allotments and/or other distributions that may be declared, the entitlement date of which is prior to the 
date of allotment of the said new ICB shares;

	 k) 	�T he ICPS holders shall have the right on a winding up offer or other return of capital, in priority to any payment 
to the holders of any other ICB shares (but pari passu amongst the ICPS holders) then in issue in the capital of 
ICB;

	 l) 	�T he ICPS holders shall not be entitled to participate in surplus assets and profits, and in any distribution and/or 
offers of further securities until and unless such ICPS holders convert their ICPS into new ICB shares; and

	 m) 	�T he conversion price may be adjusted from time to time by ICB, in consultation with ICB’s professional advisers 
(auditors, merchant banks or universal brokers), in certain circumstances such as capitalization of reserves, or 
rights issues of shares, or capital distribution whether by way of reduction of capital or otherwise (but excluding 
any cancellation of capital that is lost or unrepresented by available assets), which would in the opinion of the 
ICB’s Board have the effect of diluting the interests of the ICPS holders provided that in no event shall any 
adjustments involve a reduction of the conversion price below the par value of the ordinary shares for the time 
being.

	W arrants
	T he movements in the warrants are as follows:

									           Number Of Warrants
								A        t 1.1.2008		A  t 31.12.08
								        ‘000	E xercised 	 ‘000

	 Warrants						      46,618  	 -	 46,618

	�O n 24th April 2006, the Company executed a deed poll (“Deed Poll”) pertaining to the creation and issuance of 
55,251,530 2006/2016 warrants on the basis of three (3) warrants for every fifty (50) existing ordinary shares held 
in the Company. The warrants were listed on Malaysian Exchange of Securities Dealings and Automated Quotation 
Berhad (“MESDAQ”).
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	�O n 27th June 2006, the Company issued 55,251,530 units of detachable warrants to the shareholders of the Company 
on the basis of twenty (20) ICPS and three (3) free warrants for every fifty (50) existing ordinary shares of RM0.15 
each held in the Company.

	
	 A premium of RM0.15 is payable on conversion of each warrant into ordinary shares.

	T he main features of the warrants are as follows:

	 a)	� Each warrant will entitle the registered holder to subscribe for one (1) new ordinary share of par value of 
RM0.15 each in the Company at an exercise price of RM0.15 each subject to adjustment in accordance with the 
conditions stipulated in the Deed Poll;

	 b)	�T he warrants may be exercised at any time on or before the maturity date falling ten years (2006/2016) from the 
date of issue of the warrants on 27th June 2006. Warrants not exercised after the exercise period will thereafter 
lapse and cease to be valid;

	 c)	�T he new shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the warrants shall, upon allotment and issue, rank 
pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company in issue except that they will not be 
entitled to any dividends, rights, allotment or other distributions, the entitlement date of which is before the 
allotment and issuance of the new shares; and

	 d)	�T he persons to whom the warrants have been granted no rights to participate in any distribution and/on offer of 
further securities in the Company until/and unless warrants holders exercise their warrant for new shares.

26.	SHARE PREMIUM

			    	           	    The Group/The Company
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 At 1 January						      35,052	 26,653
	P remium arising from private placements			   -	 8,399

	 At 31 December					     35,052	 35,052
				  
	�T he share premium is not distributable by way of dividends and may be utilised in the manner set out in Section 

60(3) of the Companies Act 1965.

27.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSLATION RESERVE
	�T he exchange fluctuation reserve arose from the translation of the financial statements of a foreign subsidiary and is 

not distributable by way of dividends.

28.	REVALUATION RESERVE/RESERVE RELATING TO ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
	� In the previous financial year, the revaluation reserve and reserve relating to assets held for sale represented 

surpluses which arose from the valuation of the property. This reserve is not distributable by way of dividends.
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29.	OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
	 Included in other payables is an amount due to the lessor for leasehold land is as follows:

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Current:			 
	 Repayable within one year 				    351	 601
				  
	 Non-Current:				  
	 - repayable between one to two years				    176	 152
	 - repayable between two to five years				    527	 456
	 - repayable more than five years				    2,109	 2,130

									         2,812	 2,738

									         3,163	 3,339

30.	HIRE PURCHASE PAYABLES

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Minimum hire purchase payments:						    
	 - not later than one year		  426	 946	 127	 114
	 - later than one year and not later than five years	 504	 766	 394	 357
	 - later than five years		  -	 22	 -	 22

							       930	 1,734	 521	 493
	L ess: 								      
	 Future finance charge		  (76)	 (148)	 (59)	 (72)

	P resent value of hire purchase payables		 854	 1,586	 462	 421

	T he net hire purchase payables are repayable 					   
	   as follows:								      
	 Current:
	 - not later than one year		  392	 869	 104	 96
								      
	 Non-current:								      
	 - later than one year and not later than five years	 462	 697	 358	 305
	 - later than five years		  -	 20	 -	 20

							       462	 717	 358	 325

							       854	 1,586	 462	 421

	�T he hire purchase payables of the Group and of the Company bore effective interest rates ranging from 4.35% to 
8.80% (2007 - 2.5% to 5.13%) per annum at the balance sheet date.
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31.	LEASE PAYABLES

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Minimum lease payments:				  
	 - not later than one year				    5,325	 6,072
	 - later than one year and not later than five years			   2,207	 7,315

									         7,532	 13,387
	L ess: Future finance charges				    (619)	 (1,128)

	P resent value of lease payables				    6,913	 12,259
				  
	T he net lease payables are repayable as follows:				  
	 Current:				  
	 - not later than one year				    5,066	 5,346
				  
	 Non-current:				  
	 - later than one year and not later than five years			   1,847	 6,913

	P resent value of lease payables				    6,913	 12,259

	�T he lease payables of the Group bore effective interest rates ranging from 5.70% to 8.67% (2007 - 5.70% to 10.22%) 
per annum at the balance sheet date.

32.	TERM LOAN

			    	           	        The Group/The Company
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 Current portion:				  
	 - repayable within one year (Note 37)				    4,200	 -
				  
	 Non-current portion:				  
	 - repayable between one and two years				    8,400	 -
	 - repayable between two and five years				    6,941	 -

									         15,341	 -

									         19,541	 -

	 Details of the repayment terms are as follows:

							M       onthly		                 Amount Outstanding
	N umber Of				I    nstalment	C ommencement            	The Group/the  Company
	M onthly					A     mounts	D ate Of	 2008	  2007
	I nstalment				    Rm’000	R epayment	 Rm’000	 Rm’000
						    
	 60						      350	 November 2008	 19,541	 -

	T he loan is secured by way of an assignment of all the contract proceeds received from the Republic of Senegal.

	�T he term loan of the Group and of the Company bore an effective interest rate of 7% (2007 - Nil) per annum at the 
balance sheet date.
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33.	BONDS
	T he Bai Bithaman Ajil Islamic Debt Securities (“bonds”) at the balance sheet date are as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 AMOUNT REDEEMABLE WITHIN:						    
	 - next 2 years				    125,000	 55,000	 65,000	 55,000
	 - next 2 to 5 years			   -	 95,000	 -	 35,000

							       125,000	 150,000	 65,000	 90,000
	L ess:								     
	 - amount redeemable within next 12 months	 (36,125)	 (25,000)	 (36,125)	 (25,000)

   							       88,875	 125,000	 28,875	 65,000

	 Consist of:								      
	 - fixed profit rate bonds		  60,000	 60,000	 -	 -
	 - variable profit rate bonds		  65,000	 90,000	 65,000	 90,000

	T he principal features of the bonds are as follows:

	 (a)	�T he fixed profit rate bonds are required to pay profit on the principal at 7% per annum while the variable profit 
rate bonds are required to pay profit ranging from 5.25% to 6.70% per annum gradually increasing from the 
date of issue until the full redemption date. The variable profit rate bonds’ redemption dates and values are as 
follows:

		N  ominal Amount	R edemption date from issue date	P rofit rate per annum
		RM  ’000	 (years)	 %

		  30,000	 6	 6.50
		  35,000	 7	 6.70

	 (b)	�T he fixed profit rate bonds and variable profit rate bonds were issued on 31 October 2003 and 27 June 2003 
respectively. The fixed profit rate bonds are redeemable on its maturity date which is 7 years from the issue date.

	 (c)	T he above bonds are secured by:

		  (i)	 fixed and floating charges over all the present and future assets of the Company;

		  (ii)	� an assignment over the Promissory Notes issued by IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd for RM9,000,000 (2007 
- RM17,500,000) together with all the rights thereon;

		  (iii)	� a first charge over the Designated Account which consists of Debt Service Reserve Account, Principal 
Redemption Account and the Proceeds Account, all created to maintain bond redemption fund in the 
Company and ranked first in priority;

		  (iv)	� a second ranking charge over all proceeds and receivable balances of certain projects of the subsidiary, 
IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd; and

		  (v)	 a first ranking charge over all the building, land, plant and machinery of IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd.

	�T he fair values of the above bonds for the Group and the Company as at the balance sheet date are RM115,740,741 
(2007 - RM146,455,352) and RM60,185,185 (2007 - RM88,001,610) respectively.
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34.	DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 At 1 January						      5,356	 7,543
	 Recognised in income statements 				    3,093	 4,874
	O verprovided in prior years				    (487)	 (6,886)
	O verprovided deferred tax on revaluation reserve			   (375)	 (175)

	 At 31 December					     7,587	 5,356

	P resented after appropriate offsetting as follows:
				  
	 Deferred tax assets:				  
	U nabsorbed tax losses				    -	 (3,100)

	 Deferred tax liabilities:				  
	U nutilised capital allowances				    3,013	 3,200
	 Revaluation reserve				    4,574	 5,256

									         7,587	 8,456

									         7,587	 5,356
				  
35.	TRADE PAYABLES
	T he normal credit terms granted to the Group and the Company range from 30 to 120 days.

36.	AMOUNT DUE TO DIRECTORS
	�T he amount due represents advances which are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and to be settled in 

cash.

37.	 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Revolving credit			   16,240	 5,926	 -	 -
	 Murabahah Commercial Papers (Note 38)	 10,000	   15,000	 -	 -
	 Bankers’ acceptances		  4,454	    12,062	 -	 8,292
	T erm loan (Note 32)		  4,200	 -	 4,200	 -

							       34,894	 32,988	 4,200	 8,292

	�T he banker’s acceptances bore effective interest rates ranging from 4.10% to 4.68% (2007 - 5.44% to 6.15%) per 
annum at the balance sheet date.
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37.	 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS (cont’d)
	T he banker’s acceptances are secured by:

	 (a)	� a debenture creating fixed and floating charges over all the present and future assets of the Company ranking 
pari passu with the Bai Bithaman Ajil Islamic Debt securities bond holders;

	 (b)	 a joint and several guarantee of the directors namely Dato’ Tan Say Jim, Lee Kwee Hiang and Yap Hock Eng; 

	 (c)	 a facility agreement executed between the customers and the bank; and 

	 (d)	 a letter of undertaking from the Group and the Company to effect the Deed of Assignment on future contracts.

	�T he revolving credits are secured by an assignment of the contract proceeds which are credited into Project Account 
and will be maintained with a bank. It bears interest at the bank’s cost of funds (COF) plus a margin of 1.75% per 
annum.

	T he bank overdraft bears an effective interest of 7.55% (2007 - 8.25%) per annum.

	T he bank overdraft facility is secured by:

	 (a)	� a debenture creating fixed and floating charges over all the present and future assets of the Company ranking 
pari passu with the Bai Bithaman Ajil Islamic Debt securities bond holders; and

	 (b)	� a joint and several guarantee of the directors namely Dato’ Tan Say Jim, Lee Kwee Hiang and Yap Hock Eng.

38.	MURABAHAH COMMERCIAL PAPERS (“CPs”)

			    	               	T he Group 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	 At 1 January						      15,000	 20,000
	 Repayment during the financial year 				    (5,000)	 (5,000)

	 At 31 December (Note 37)				    10,000	 15,000

	T he principal terms of the commercial papers are as follows:
	
	 (a)	T enure/Maturity	�	T he CPs facility is available up to 7 years from the date of execution of the Facility 

Agreements with the issuance of CPs with 1 month to 12 months maturity.
		
	 (b)	 Security			T  he CPs issued are unsecured in nature.
		
	 (c)	 Interest rate		�T  he interest on CPs are recognised based on the difference between gross and 

net proceeds received, and amortised to the income statement over the period of 
the CPs.

		
	 (d)	 Redemption		  At par on the respective maturity dates.

	�T he Murabahah Commercial Papers are redeemable within 364 days (2007 - within 183 - 365 days) from issue date 
and are secured by a second charge over the short-term leasehold building and bear interest of 6.3% (2007 - 6.0% to 
6.5%) per annum.
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39.	NET ASSETS PER SHARE
	�T he net assets per share is calculated based on the assets value at the balance sheet date of RM278,285,803 (2007 

- RM267,214,780) divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at the balance sheet date of 1,404,520,303 
(2007 - 1,368,641,551).

40.	REVENUE
	� Revenue of the Group and of the Company represents the invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered less 

discounts and returns.

	 Details of the revenue are as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Sale of goods				   150,285	 172,143	 49,256	 20,805
	 Contract revenue (Note 18)		  135,315	 47,386	 93,702	 34,232

							       285,600	 219,529	 142,958	 55,037

41.	COST OF SALES
	� Details of the cost of sales are as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Cost of inventories sold		  128,745	 124,986	 53,689	 21,684
	 Contract costs (Note 18)		  93,464	 36,260	 53,041	 23,075

							       222,209	 161,246	 106,730	 44,759
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42.	PROFIT/(loss) BEFORE TAXATION

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	P rofit/(Loss) before taxation is arrived at 
	   after charging/(crediting):						    
	
	 Allowance for contract foreseeable loss		  8,711	 989	 -	 -
	 Amortisation of development costs		  2,552	 1,637	 2,552	 1,637
	 Amortisation of concession assets		  288	 -	 288	 -
	 Allowance for doubtful debts		  800	 2,782	 -	 1,479
	 Allowance for impairment loss of other investment	 -	 2,378	 -	 2,378
	 Allowance for slow-moving inventories		  311	 2,675	 -	 2,036
	 Amortisation of intellectual properties		  1,380	 1,380	 615	 615
	 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments	 308	 309	 -	 -
	 Audit fee:								     
	 - for the current financial year		  86	 54	 35	 25
	 - underprovision in the previous financial year	 78	 51	 60	 27
	 Bad debts written off		  4,335 	 34	 4,335 	 34
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	 12,815	 8,683	 657	 841
	 Directors’ remuneration		  1,714	 1,332	 1,525	 1,176
	 Directors’ fee				    1,080	 906	 811	 637
	 Interest expense:							     
	 - bank overdraft			   5	 5	 5	 5
	 - bankers’ acceptances and LC charges		  786	 839	 240	 130
	 - bonds					     10,777	 12,146	 6,081	 7,450
	 - commercial papers		  661	 1,140	 -	 130
	 - hire purchase and lease		  823	 1,270	 38	 18
	 - revolving credit			   692	 -	 -	 -
	 - loan						     542	 -	 542	 -
	L ease rental				    2,382	 793	 2,382	 793
	L oss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries		  144	 -	 -	 -
	 Rental of office			   1,365	 652	 2,285	 1,185
	 Rental of mould			   3	 10,975	 -	 -
	 Research and development expenses		  4,375	 1,599	 2,993	 2,690
	 Royalty					     (1,374)	 152	 (621)	 15
	 Staff cost	s				    25,006	 27,773	 8,824	 12,202
	 Inventories written-off		  12,050	 -	 6,164	 -
	 Writeback of allowance for doubtful debts	 (115)	 (780)	 (10)	 (780)
	 Gain on disposal of plant and equipment		 (79)	 (24)	 (77)	 (14)
	 (Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange:						    
	 - realised					     1,282	 (1,353)	 (1,225)	 781
	 - unrealised				    (40)	 1,533	 (8)	 873
	 Interest income			   (1,338)	 (781)	 (773)	 (593)
	O verprovision of allowance for slow-moving 
	   inventories				    (10,359)	 -	 (4,453)	 -
	 Realised gain on translation reserve from 
	   subsidiary written off		  -	 (684)	 -	 -
	 Rental income				   (900)	 (924)	 -	 -

	 *  - less than RM1,000
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43.	INCOME TAX EXPENSE

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Current tax								      
	 - for the financial year		  2,600	 -	 1,350	 -	
	 Deferred tax (Note 29)						    
	 - for the financial year 		  3,093	 4,874	 -	 -
	 - overprovision in the previous financial year	 (487)	 (6,886)	 -	 -

							       2,606	 (2,012)	 -	 -

							       5,206	 (2,012)	 1,350	 -

	� During the financial year, the statutory tax rate was reduced from 27% to 26%, as announced in the Malaysian Budget 
2007.

	�T he corporate tax rate of the subsidiaries with the issued an paid-up capital below RM2,500,000 is 20% on the first 
RM500,000 of chargeable income. The tax rate applicable to the balance of the chargeable income is 26% (2007 - 27%).

	T he Group and the Company have unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	U nabsorbed tax losses		  1,066	 25,734	 -	 9,341
	U nabsorbed capital allowances		  355	 605	 -	 -

	� A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to 
income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and the Company is as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	P rofit/(Loss) before taxation		  15,838	 5,516	 8,886	 (18,078)
								      
	T ax at the statutory tax rate of 26% (2007 - 27%)	 4,118	 1,489	 2,310	 (4,881)
	 Non-taxable income		  -	 (2,965)	 -	 -
	T ax savings				    -	 (196)	 -	 -
	 Non-deductible expenses		  4,339	 9,690	 2,063	 4,171
	O verprovision of deferred tax in the previous 
	   financial year				   (487)	 (6,885)	 -	 -
	 Deferred tax assets not recognised 						    
	   during the financial year		  486	 1,287	 -	 710
	U tilisation of reinvestment tax allowance		 (951)	 (4,150)	 (863)	 -
	 Realisation of deferred taxation on usage of 
	   factory building and leasehold land		  (109)	 (112)	 -	 -
	 Differential in tax rates		  (30)	 (170)	 -	 -
	U tilisation of previously unrecognised deferred					   
	   tax assets				    (2,160)	 -	 (2,160)	 -
	
	T ax expense/(income) for the year		  5,206	 (2,012)	 1,350	 -
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44.	EARNINGS PER SHARE
	�T he basic earnings per share is arrived at by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to the equity holders of the Group 

of RM10,675,492 (2007 - RM7,532,838) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
financial year of 1,375,042,735 (2007 - 1,257,885,248).

	�T he fully diluted earnings per share is arrived at by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to the equity holders of the 
Group of RM10,675,492 (2007 - RM7,582,838) by the adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
and issuable during the financial year of 1,413,293,339 (2007 - 1,362,933,365). 

45.	PURCHASE OF PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Cost of plant and equipment purchased		  3,878	 10,426	 646	 1,013
	 Amount financed through hire purchase		  (311)	 (129)	 (311)	 (129)
	 Reversal					     (466)	 (193)	 -	 -    
	
	 Cash disbursed for purchase of plant 
	   and equipment 			   3,101	 10,104	 335	 884

46.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
	 For the purpose of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Deposits with licensed banks		  17,428	 13,782	 13,367	 9,468
	 Cash and bank balances		  37,906	 14,166	 11,148	 3,858

							       55,334	 27,948	 24,515	 13,326

47.	CAPITAL  COMMITMENTS

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Approved and contracted for:						    
	 - construction of greenhouse		  3,006	 3,006	 -	 -
	 - plant and equipment		  489	 5,310	 -	 5,310

							       3,495	 8,316	 -	 5,310
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48.	LEASE COMMITMENTS
	�T he Company have commitments for future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating lease in 

respect of the rental of office.

			    	               	    The Group/The Company 
					       2008	 2007
					      RM’000	RM ’000

	T he minimum lease payments				  
	 - within next 2 years 				    5,403	 6,784
	 - within next 3 years to 5 years				    1,126	 8,992

									         6,529	 15,776
	L ess: payable within next 12 months				    (2,701)	 (3,348)
	
									         3,828	 12,428

	T here are no operating lease commitments that exceeded five years.

49.	CONTINGENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
	C ontingent Liabilities
	� -	� Corporate guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary amounting to RM65,318,750 

(2007 - RM62,400,000)

	� -	� Counter guarantees given to a foreign bank for a Performance Bond issued on behalf of the Company amounting 
to RM4,589,000 (2007 - RM4,589,000)

	C ontingent Assets
	�O n 12 July 2006, ICB entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Enve Hitech Farming Solutions Sdn Bhd 

(“ENVE”) to purchase Capillary Agrotech (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (“CA”) to which ENVE would guarantee ICB profit before 
taxation of RM6,000,000 before 30 June 2008. On 4 March 2008, ENVE extended the fulfilment of the profit guarantee 
for 18 months to 31 December 2009.

	� In the event of CA’s inability to achieve the cumulative profit of RM6,000,000 at the stipulated date, ENVE would be 
liable to compensate ICB for an amount of 70% of the shortfall in the cumulative profit before tax. 

50.	SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
	 (a)	 Identities of related parties

		  (i)	� the Company has related party relationships with its subsidiaries and associates as disclosed in Notes 6 
and 7 to the financial statements;

		  (ii)	 the directors who are the key management personnel; and

		  (iii)	 entities controlled by certain key management personnel, directors and/or substantial shareholders.
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50.	SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)
	 (a)	 Identities of related parties (Cont’d)

		  (a)	� In addition to the information detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company 
carried out the following significant transactions with related parties during the financial year:

	T he Group	T he Company
			   2008	 2007	   2008	 2007
		N  ote	RM ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

		  (i)	 Subsidiaries
			   IRIS Technologies (M) 
			     Sdn Bhd
			   - Royalty			  -	 -	 5,057	 3,734
   			   - Sales			   -	 -	 264	 778
   			   - Purchases		  -	 -	 15,297	 12,598
   			   - Rental payable		  -	 -	 1,077	 1,076

									         21,695	 18,186
   			   IRIS Information 
			     Technology Systems						    
			     Sdn Bhd
			   - Sales			   -	 -	 24,262	 5,059
   			   - Management fee				    240	 240

 			V   ersatile P4 Power 
			     Resources Sdn Bhd						    
			    - ���Purchase of 
			      concession assets	   	 -	 -	 6,371	 10,129

		  (ii)	A ssociates	
    			   GMPC Corporation 
			     Sdn Bhd
			   - Sales			   52,596	 38,913			 
			   - Rental received		  6	 6	 -	 -
								      
		  (iii)	O ther Related parties						    
  			   MCS Microsystems 
			     Sdn Bhd (“MCSM”)	 a					   
			   - Purchases		  1,414	 14,374	  95	 91
    			   - Rental received		  78	 82	 78	 82
								      
     			V  ersatile Paper Boxes 
			     Sdn Bhd (“VPB”)	 b
			    - Purchases		  17	 25	 13	 17
								      
		  (iv)	�K ey Management
			   personnel
			   Short term 
			     employee benefits		  5,341	 4,286	 3,779	 2,959

		  (a)	 Yap Hock Eng is a director and shareholder of ICB and MCSM.
		  (b)	 Dato’ Tan Say Jim is a director and major shareholder of ICB and has a substantial shareholding in VPB.
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51.	SEGMENTAL REPORTING
	 Business Segments

							       Digital Identity
			   and Business 		I  nter-Segment 
			   Solutions	O thers	   Elimination	G roup
	 2008		RM  ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 REVENUE				 
	 External sales				   283,921	 1,679	 -	 285,600

	 RESULTS				 
	 Segment results			   63,089	 302	 -     	 63,391
	U nallocated corporate expenses					     (36,216)

	O perating profit						      27,175
	O ther income 							      3,719
	 Finance costs							      (15,058)

										          15,836
	 Share of profit in associate					     2

	P rofit before taxation					     15,838
				  
	 Income tax expense					     (5,206)

	P rofit after taxation 					     10,632
				  
	OTH ER INFORMATION				  
				  
	 Segmental assets #		  504,709	 56,168	 -	 560,877
	 Segment liabilities *		  227,802	 46,158	 -	 273,960
	 Capital expenditure		  4,904	 7,716		  12,620
	 Depreciation and amortisation		  16,935	 408	 -	 17,343
	
	 #  - Segment assets comprise total current and non-current assets.
	 *  - Segment liabilities comprise total current liabilities and non-current liabilities.

	B y Geographical Location

				M    alaysia	   Others	G roup
	 2008			RM   ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Revenue from external customers			   152,844	 132,756	 285,600
	 Segment assets 				    537,333	 23,544	 560,877
	 Capital Expenditure			   4,830	 7,790	 12,620
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51.	SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont’d)
	B y Geographical Location (Cont’d)

			D   igital Identity 
			   and Business 		I  nter-Segment	  
			   Solutions	O thers	E limination 	G roup
	 2007		RM  ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 REVENUE				 
	 External sales				   218,727	 802	 -	 219,529

	 RESULTS				 
	 Segment results			   58,117	 166	 -	 58,283
	U nallocated corporate expenses		  -	 -	 -	 (41,415)

	O perating profit						      16,868
	O ther income							       4,356
	 Finance costs							      (15,663)

										          5,561
	 Share of loss of associates					     (45)

	P rofit before taxation					     5,516
	 Income tax expense					     2,012

	P rofit after taxation 					     7,528

	OTH ER INFORMATION				  
				  
	 Segmental assets			  485,079	 42,358	 -	 527,437
	 Segment liabilities			  219,402	 35,545	 -	 254,947
	 Capital expenditure		  14,493	 11,731	 -	 26,224
	 Depreciation and amortisation		  11,881	 128	 -	 12,009

	B y Geographical Location

				M    alaysia	   Others	G roup
	 2007			RM   ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Revenue from external customers			   125,758	 93,771	 219,529
	 Segment assets				    511,639	 15,798	 527,437
	 Capital expenditure			   10,426	 15,798	 26,224
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52.	SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
	T he significant events during the financial year are as follows:

	 (a)	I ncorporation of a Subsidiary
		�O  n 29 May 2008, the Company incorporated a 75% owned subsidiary in Egypt for a total consideration of 

approximately RM133,751 (EGP 225,000).

	 (b)	E stablishment of a Joint Venture Company
		�O  n 30 April 2008, the Company signed a Joint Venture Agreement with ED Switch Sdn Bhd (formally known as 

ePetrol Development Sdn Bhd) to establish a Joint Venture Company, namely I-Kiosk Sdn Bhd

	 (c)	P roposed Private Placement 
		�O  n 16 May 2008, the Board announced that the application to the Securities Commission and Foreign Investment 

Committee for the Proposed Private Placement of up to 155,431,281 new ordinary shares of RM0.15 each, 
representing up to ten percent (10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the company to investors to be 
identified had been approved.

		�O  n 30 October 2008, the Securities Commission had vide its letter approved the extension of time up to 15 May 
2009 for the Company to implement the Proposed Private Placement. As at the 15 April 2009, the Proposed 
Private Placement is pending implementation.

	 (d)	M ember’s Voluntary Winding Up of Subsidiaries
		�O  n 6 October 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company passed a resolution for a member’s voluntary 

winding up of Asiatronics Sdn Bhd And TL Automation Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd. These are 80% and 75% owned 
subsidiaries of the Company respectively.

	 (e)	C onversion of Non-cumulative Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares (“ICPS”)
		�  For the financial period from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008, a total of  35,878,752 units of ICPS had 

been converted into ordinary shares of RM0.15 each.

	 (f)	A cquisition of Additional 5% of the Issued and Paid-up Share Capital of the Associate
		�O  n 6 June 2008, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary IRIS Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd (“IRIS Tech”), jointly 

entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Dibena Enterprise Sdn Bhd, TricubesNCR JV Sdn Bhd and 
Unisys MSC Sdn Bhd to acquire 1,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each in GMPC, representing a 20% equity 
interest in GMPC for total purchase consideration of RM2.00.

		  IRIS Tech’s shareholding in GMPC was increased to 25% from 20% upon the completion of this acquisition.

	 (g)	M aterial Litigation
		  (i)	�O n 29 November 2006, ICB filed a lawsuit against the United States (“US”) Government in the U.S Court 

of Federal Claims in Washington D.C. The claim was based on the ICB US Patent No. 6,041,412 which 
relates to others, a Basic Access Control (“BAC”) and Extended Access Control (“EAC”) e-passport reader. 
ICB is claiming for reasonable compensation, in this case, royalties, from the US Government in respect of 
readers in use by the US Government, which were in turn purchased from Rochford Thompson of Newbury, 
England and supplied to the US Government by Rochford’s agent, Government Micro Resources, Inc of 
Virginia (now known as Fulcrum IT Services Company). 

			�T   he US Government had brought Fulcrum IT Services Company and 3M Rochford Thompson Ltd. (3M had 
acquired Rochford Thompson on 31 July 2007) into the litigation alleging that ICB should be reimbursed by 
the parties, should they be found to be liable to pay royalties to ICB. 

			�O   n 11 December 2008, ICB received a written notification from Messrs Moses and Singer LLP that the case 
had been settled amicably on 24 November 2008 whereby a non-exclusive license had been granted to 3M 
to produce and distribute the Company’s US patented e-passport readers and encoders.
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52.	SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (cont’d)
	 (g)	M aterial Litigation (Cont’d)
		  (ii)	�O n 29 November 2006, ICB had filed a lawsuit against Japan Air Lines (“JAL”) in the U.S. District Court, 

Eastern District of New York. The claim is in relation to the ICB US Patent No. 6,111,506, which claims 
among others, a method of manufacturing an electronic passport (“the ICB US patented process”). ICB’s 
claim is based on allegation that JAL uses electronic passports that have been manufactured overseas by 
entities that practice the steps of the ICB US patented process, when checking in passengers at JAL’s US 
passenger check-in facilities. 

			�   JAL had filed a motion to dismiss the claim. ICB’s solicitors, Messrs Moses & Singer LLP, had opposed the 
motion to dismiss. The briefs on the motion had been filed in June 2007 and the matter is now pending a 
written decision and opinion by the District Judge. 

			   In this case, ICB is seeking monetary damages, the quantum of which has not been specified to date.
 
		   (iii)	�A Writ of Summons No. MT3- 22-191-2007 and Statement of Claim dated 13 April 2007 was filed in the High 

Court of Malaya at Penang by Sigma Range Sdn Bhd (“SRSB”) against ICB. SRSB is seeking damages for 
loss of profits in the sum of RM17,466,840.00 together with general damages, interests, costs and further 
and/or other relief for the alleged breach of an agreement for the sale and purchase of 5,000 units of ICB’s 
Smart Team product lines comprising 4,600 units of Mobile SmartTerm ST4e and 400 units of Desktop 
SmartTerm TC6000. 

			�O   n 14 January 2009, SRSB had through its solicitors filed the Notice of Discontinuance to withdraw SRSB’s 
action against ICB with no order as to costs and without any liberty to file afresh.

53.	FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
	� Fair value is defined as the amount at which the financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 

between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced sale or liquidation.

	T he following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

	 (a)	U nquoted Investments 
		�  It is not practicable to determine the fair value of the unquoted investments because of the lack of quoted 

market prices and the assumptions used in valuation models to value these investments cannot be reasonably 
estimated.

	 (b)	C ash and Cash equivalents and Short-term Receivables/Payables
		�T  he carrying amounts approximated the fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of these 

instruments.

	 (c)	P ayables and Other Current Liabilities and Commercial Papers
		T  he carrying amounts approximated the fair values due to the short period to maturity of these instruments.
	
	 (d)	H ire Purchase and Lease Payables
		�T  he fair value of hire purchase and lease payables is determined by discounting the relevant cash flows using 

current interest rates for similar instruments at the balance sheet date.
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	 (e)	 Foreign Currency Risk
		�T  he net unhedged financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in their functional 

currencies are as follows:

				U    nited 
				    States		P  ound	 Singapore	E gyptian
				D    ollar	E uro	 Sterling	D ollar	P ound	O thers
		  2008	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ‘000	RM ’000	RM ’000

		T  rade receivables	 27,885	 29,589	 -	 -	 -	 102
		T  rade payables	 (18,815)	 (516)	 (329)	 (4)	 (4,243)	 (72)
		O  ther payables	 (16,925)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
		  Cash and bank balances	 8,880	 242	 -	 -	 -	 449

		  2007 
		T  rade receivables	 24,899	 1,280	 -     	 -     	 3,025	 -     
		O  ther receivables	 8,185	 1,050	 -     	 -     	 -     	 -     
		T  rade payables	 (14,751)	 (1,270)	 -	 (4)	 -     	 (11)
		  Cash and bank balances	 374	 5	 19	 5	 -     	 8
		  Fixed deposits with
		    licensed banks	 862	  -     	 -    	 -    	 -     	 -     
		  Bank borrowings	 (5,926)	 -     	 -    	 -    	 -     	 -  

		�T  he net unhedged financial assets and liabilities of the Company that are not denominated in their functional 
currencies are as follows:

				U    nited 
				    States		P  ound	 Singapore	E gyptian
				D    ollar	E uro	 Sterling	D ollar	P ound	O thers
		  2008	RM ’000	RM ’000	RM ’000	R m‘000	RM ’000	RM ’000

		T  rade receivables	 14,760	 29,589	 -	 -	 -	 102
		T  rade payables	 (3,103)	 -	 (325)	 -	 (4,243)	 (72)
		  Cash and bank balances	 8,140	 240	 -	 -	 -	 449
						    
		  2007						    
		T  rade receivables	 14,537	 247	 -	 -	 -	 -
		T  rade payables	 (2,957)	 (819)	 -	 -	 -	 -
		  Cash and bank balances	 44	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 (f)	 Short-term Borrowings 
		�T  he carrying amounts approximated their fair values because of the short period to maturity of these 

instruments.
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53.	FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
	 (f)	 Short-term Borrowings (Cont’d)
		�  (i)	C ontingent Liability
			�T   he nominal amount and net fair value of financial instruments not recognised in the balance sheets of the 

Group and of the Company are as follows:

			    	               	   The Group/The Company 
			    	               	N ominal	N et 
					       Amount	 Fair Value
					      RM’000	RM ’000

		A  t 31 December 2008			 
		  Contingent liability				    69,908	 *

		A  t 31 December 2007			 
		  Contingent liability				    66,989	 *
	
		  *	� It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of the contingent liability reliably due to uncertainties of timing, 

costs and eventual outcome.
		
		  (ii)	L ong-term Bank Loans and Bonds
			T   he carrying amounts approximated their fair value as these instruments bear interest at variable rates.

54.	COMPARATIVE FIGURES
	�T he following comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation of the current financial year:

	T he Group	T he Company
			    	A s		A  s 
			A   s 	P reviously	A s	P reviously 
			R   estated 	R eported	R estated	R eported 
			   2007	 2007	   2007	 2007
			RM   ’000	RM ’000	  RM’000	RM ’000

	 Balance Sheets (extract):						    
	 Intellectual properties		  14,872	 15,678	 6,968	 6,968
	 Inventories				    75,814	 75,714	 25,654	 25,554
	 Contact work in progress 		  -	 14,636	 -	 4,719
	 Amount owing by contract customers		  14,536	 -	 4,619	 -
	O ther receivables, deposits and prepayments	 30,340	 29,534	 7,210	 7,210
								      
	 Income Statements (extract):						    
	 Cost of sales				    161,246	 151,141	 44,759	 43,438
	 Selling and distribution expenses		  -	 1,873	 -	 213
	 Administrative expenses		  31,945	 47,662	 15,847	 20,076
	 Finance cost				    15,663	 15,953	 7,677	 7,967
	O ther expenses			   9,470	 -	 5,789	 -
	 Exceptional item			   -	 1,695	 -	 2,378
								      
	 Cash Flow Statements (extract):
	 Allowance for doubtful debts		  2,782	 2,315	 1,479	 1,041
	 Writeback of allowance for doubtful debts	 (780)	 -	 (780)	 -
	 Decrease in inventories 		  12,686	 12,786	 67	 167
	 Increase in contract work in progress 		  -	 (15,624)	 -	 (4,719)
	 Decrease/(Increase) in amount owing by/to 
	   contract customers 		  (15,524) 	 -	 (4,619)	 -
	 (Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables	 13,583 	 14,076 	 (4,067) 	 (4,409)
	 (Purchase)/Reversal of intellectual properties 	 806 	 - 	 - 	 -
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Authorised Share Capital
	O rdinary Shares of RM0.15 each	 :	 RM	375,000,000
	 Non-cumulative Irredeemable
	 Convertible Preference Shares 
	 of RM0.15 each	 :	 RM	105,000,000

			   RM	480,000,000

Issued and Fully Paid-Up Share Capital	  
	O rdinary Shares of RM0.15 each	 :	 RM	210,680,445
	 Non-cumulative Irredeemable
	 Convertible Preference Shares 
	 of RM0.15 each	 :	 RM	 5,735,191

			   RM	216,415,636

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Ordinary Shares

			N   o. of	N o. of 	 % of 
Size of shareholdings			   Shareholders	 Shares held	 Shares held

1 – 99			   17	 562	 0.00
100 – 1,000			   911	 781,489	 0.06
1,001 – 10,000			   8,683	 57,602,182	 4.10
10,001 – 100,000			   8,333	 318,620,083	 22.69
100,001 – 70,226,814			   1,528	 928,676,320	 66.12
70,226,815 and above (5% of issued shares)		  1	 98,855,667	 7.04
TOTAL			   19,473	 1,404,536,303	 100.00

Non-cumulative Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares (Icps)

			N   o. of	N o. of 	 % of 
Size of ICPS holdings			ICP   S holders	ICP S held	ICP S held

1 – 99			   9	 376	 0.00
100 – 1,000			   228	 143,090	 0.37
1,001 – 10,000			   648	 2,757,840	 7.21
10,001 – 100,000			   150	 4,587,500	 12.00
100,001 – 1,911,729			   13	 4,718,999	 12.34
1,911,730 and above (5% of issued shares)		  4	 26,026,799	 68.07
TOTAL			   1,052	 38,234,604	 100.00

Warrants

			N   o. of	N o. of 	 % of 
Size of Warrant holdings			W   arrant holders	W arrants held	W arrants held

1 – 99			   250	 9,924	 0.02
100 – 1,000			   516	 202,450	 0.43
1,001 – 10,000			   694	 4,160,665	 8.93
10,001 – 100,000			   548	 19,379,393	 41.57
100,001 – 2,330,878			   80	 20,065,157	 43.04
2,330,879 and above (5% of issued shares)		  1	 2,800,000	 6.01
TOTAL			   2,089	 46,617,589	 100.00
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LIST OF 30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 15 APRIL 2009
Ordinary Shares

No.	N ame of Shareholders	N o. of Shares	 % of Shares

1	� Eb Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad Pledged
	 Securities Account For Versatile Paper Boxes Sdn Bhd (Jtr)	 98,855,667	 7.04

2	 Mcs Microsystems Sdn Bhd	 65,333,333	 4.65

3	TL  Technology Research (HK) Limited	 56,000,000	 3.99

4	 Razali Bin Ismail	 39,493,333	 2.81

5	Ya p Hock Eng	 31,022,200	 2.21

6	U obm Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For
	 Societe Generale Bank & Trust, Singapore Branch (Cust Asset)	 29,158,600	 2.08

7	 Eb Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad Pledged
	 Securities Account For Versatile Paper Boxes Sdn Bhd (Ss2)	 27,568,366	 1.96

8	H lg Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Tan Say Jim (C03rns2nst215m)	 16,648,900	 1.19

9	Lee  Kwee Hiang	 16,100,000	 1.15

10	Osk  Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Berhad
	P ledged Securities Account For Tan Say Jim	 15,000,000	 1.07

11	Tan  Say Jim	 14,843,333	 1.06

12	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Ng See Cheng (8040841)	 14,670,000	 1.04

13	 M.i.t Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged
	 Securities Account For Abu Sahid Bin Mohamed (Mg0172-003)	 12,000,000	 0.85

14	 Chang Cheng Huat	 11,879,000	 0.85

15	H o Fah See	 10,000,000	 0.71

16	 Rhb Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Paramsothy A/l Murugasu (Ceb)	  9,000,000	 0.64

17	 Wong Seng Huat	 8,535,500	 0.61

18	Lim  Kim Hua	 8,369,600	 0.60

19	 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Lee Kwee Hiang	 7,150,000	 0.51

20	 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Satkunabalan A/l K Sabaratn	 6,250,000	 0.44

21	Ta  Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Goh Tai Siang	 6,000,000	 0.43

22	 Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Ng See Cheng	 5,550,000	 0.40

23	Te oh Hooi Bin	 4,530,000	 0.32

24	Hdm  Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	 Dbs Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd For Pang Kwee Chin Nora	 4,375,000	 0.31

25	P oh Ewe Wing	 3,400,000	 0.24

26	H o Fah See	 3,350,000	 0.24

27	H o Kat Sin	 3,200,000	 0.23

28	Lee  Kim Sang	 3,000,000	 0.21

29	 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	Ubs  Ag Singapore For Thistle Hill Limited	 3,000,000	 0.21

30	T unku Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 2,666,667	 0.19

	T otal	 536,949,499	 38.23
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LIST OF 30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 15 APRIL 2009
ICPS

No.	N ame of Shareholders	N o. of Shares	 % of Shares

1	U obm Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For
	 Societe Generale Bank & Trust, Singapore Branch (Cust Asset)	 8,463,440	 22.14

2	 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For
	 Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited (Non Treaty Clt)	 8,323,359	 21.77

3	Lee  Kwee Hiang 	 6,840,000	 17.89

4	 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Lee Kwee Hiang	 2,400,000	 6.28

5	T unku Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin 	 1,866,666	 4.88

6	 Chang Yang @ Chen Yong	 660,000	 1.73

7	Za lina Shaharah Binti Azman	 400,000	 1.05

8	Law  Siew Lan	 400,000	 1.05

9	Lim  Chui Kui @ Lim Chooi Kui	 240,000	 0.63

10	 Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Tan Chu Chin	 180,000	 0.47

11	 Ecml Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Yap Pak Leong	 160,000	 0.42

12	Ye oh Poh Choo	 150,000	 0.39

13	H lg Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Toh Poey Gee (Ccts)	 140,000	 0.37

14	Lim  Jit Hai	 139,000	 0.36

15	 Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 133,333	 0.35

16	 Azmi Bin Luddin	 130,000	 0.34

17	P ublic Invest Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Anouschka Shiamin Lim (C)	 120,000	 0.31

18	Te o Tien Hiong @ Teo Thin Pee	 100,000	 0.26

19	Ta  Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Gurjeet Singh A/l Chanan SI	 100,000	 0.26

20	 Koh Siew Hee	 100,000	 0.26

21	 Kee Song Swa	 100,000	 0.26

22	 Gan Lay Har	 100,000	 0.26

23	 Goh Jiu Sin	 99,800	 0.26

24	 Sim Wang Leng	 80,000	 0.21

25	Hdm  Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	 Dbs Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd For Chiew Kin Huat	 80,000	 0.21

26	 Ching Siew Eng	 80,000	 0.21

27	 Bounty Leisure Sdn Bhd	 80,000	 0.21

28	P hua Kim Chong	 72,000	 0.19

29	Ti ong Yong Ta	 69,000	 0.18

30	 Sulaiman Bin Musa	 64,000	 0.17

	T otal	 31,870,598	 83.36
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LIST OF 30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 15 APRIL 2009
Warrants

No.	N ame of Shareholders	N o. of Shares	 % of Shares

1	 MCS Microsystems Sdn Bhd	 2,800,000	 6.01

2	U obm Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For
	 Societe Generale Bank & Trust, Singapore Branch (Cust Asset)	 1,269,516	 2.72

3	Lee  Kwee Hiang	 1,026,000	 2.20

4	Ya p Hock Eng	 738,000	 1.58

5	H lg Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Tan Say Jim (C03rns2nst215m)	 708,000	 1.52

6	Tan  Say Jim	 677,000	 1.45

7	 Ibrahim Bin Hamzah	 670,000	 1.44

8	 Rhb Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Low Bee Kiew (Ceb)	 645,000	 1.38

9	Ta  Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Liew Yam Fee	 600,000	 1.29

10	 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Chan Lam Sang @ Chan Lam	 482,000	 1.03

11	 Affin Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Tan Sim Kee (Tan0883c)	 430,000	 0.92

12	 Kong Choy Fun	 370,000	 0.79

13	 Chan Weng Hong	 360,000	 0.77

14	 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Lee Kwee Hiang	 360,000	 0.77

15	Yew  Ming Chin	 300,000	 0.64

16	Ong  Seng Khek	 300,000	 0.64

17	T heivarani A/p Muniandy	 291,000	 0.62

18	T unku Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	 280,000	 0.60

19	 Shu Kam Lan	 280,000	 0.60

20	 Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Wan Yusop Bin Wan Daud	 260,600	 0.56

21	H o Mee Lee	 260,000	 0.56

22	H lg Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	 Cimb Bank For Len Book Learn (M66002)	 255,300	 0.55

23	 Wong Neng Hook	 250,000	 0.54

24	Tan  Lye Peng	 243,200	 0.52

25	Y ong Fatt Chin	 243,000	 0.52

26	Ha  Poh Kee	 230,000	 0.49

27	 Cimsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	 Exempt An For Cimb-gk Securities Pte Ltd (Retail Clients)	 228,015	 0.49

28	 Jf Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Mohd Sani Bin Md Dahlan	 214,150	 0.46

29	 Rhb Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	P ledged Securities Account For Chen Thau Min (471370)	 200,100	 0.43

30	 Wong Chiew Sian	 200,000	 0.43

	T otal	 15,170,881	 32.54
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 15 APRIL 2009 (as per Register of Substantial Shareholders)
Ordinary Shares

			                    No. of Shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	 Eb Nominees (Tempatan) 	 126,424,033	 9.00	 -	 -
	 Sendirian Berhad
	P ledged Securities Account For 
	Versa tile Paper Boxes Sdn Bhd 
	 (Jtr) & (Ss2)	

2	 Dato’ Tan Say Jim	 46,492,233	 3.32	 126,424,033	 9.00

3	Ya p Hock Eng	 31,022,200	 2.21	 65,333,333	 4.65

	T otal	 203,938,466	 14.53	 191,757,366	 13,65

ICPS

			                    No. of shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	U obm Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 8,463,440	 22.14	 -	 -
	 Exempt An For Societe Generale 
	 Bank & Trust, Singapore Branch 
	 (Cust Asset)	

2	 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	 Exempt An For Credit Suisse 
	 Securities (Europe) Limited 
	 (Non Treaty Clt)	 8,323,359	 21.77	 -	 -

3	Lee  Kwee Hiang	 9,240,000	 24.17	 -	 -

	T otal	 26,026,799	 68.08	 -	 -

Warrants

			                    No. of Shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	 Mcs Microsystems Sdn Bhd	 2,800,000	 6.01	 -	 -

2	Ya p Hock Eng	 -	 -	 2,800,000	 6.01

	T otal	 2,800,000	 6.01	 2,800,000	 6.01
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING AS AT 15 APRIL 2009 (as per Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)
Ordinary Shares

			                    No. of shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	Tan  Sri Razali Bin Ismail 	 39,551,733	 2.81	 -	 -

2	Yam  Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin 	 2,666,667	 0.19	 -	 -
	   Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	

3	 Dato’ Tan Say Jim 	 46,492,233	 3.32	 126,424,033	 9.00

4	Lee  Kwee Hiang 	 23,250,000	 1.66	 -	 -

5	Ya p Hock Eng	 31,022,200	 2.21	 65,333,333	 4.65

6	 Eow Kwan Hoong	 1,593,333	 0.11	 -	 -

7	 Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 333,333	 0.02	 -	 -

8	 Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin 	 -	 -	 -	 -
	   Syed Abdul Kadir	

9	 Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi 	 667	 0.00	 -	 -
	   Bin Md Noor	

10	 Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 -	 -	 -	 -

11	 Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abd Aziz	 -	 -	 -	 -

12	 Chan Feoi Chun	 300,000	 0.02	 -	 -

	T otal	 145,210,166	 10.34	 191,757,366	 13.65

ICPS

			                    No. of Shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	Tan  Sri Razali Bin Ismail	 -	 -	 -	 -

2	Yam  Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin 	 1,866,666	 4.88	 -	 -
	   Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	

3	 Dato’ Tan Say Jim	 -	 -	 -	 -

4	Lee  Kwee Hiang	 9,240,000	 24.17	 -	 -

5	Ya p Hock Eng	 -	 -	 -	 -

6	 Eow Kwan Hoong	 -	 -	 -	 -

7	 Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 133,333	 0.35	 -	 -

8	 Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin 	 -	 -	 -	 -
	   Syed Abdul Kadir	

9	 Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi 	 -	 -	 -	 -
	   Bin Md Noor	

10	 Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 -	 -	 -	 -

11	 Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abd Aziz	 -	 -	 -	 -

12	 Chan Feoi Chun	 -	 -	 -	 -

	T otal	 11,239,999	 29.40	 -	 -
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Warrants

			                    No. of Shares
No	 Shareholder	D irect	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	Tan  Sri Razali Bin Ismail	 -	 -	 -	 -

2	Yam  Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin 	 280,000	 0.60	 -	 -
	   Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin	

3	 Dato’ Tan Say Jim 	 1,385,000	 2.97	 -	 -

4	Lee  Kwee Hiang 	 1,386,000	 2.97	 -	 -

5	Ya p Hock Eng	 738,000	 1.58	 2,800,000	 6.01

6	 Eow Kwan Hoong	 -	 -	 -	 -

7	 Syed Abdullah Bin Syed Abd Kadir	 19,999	 0.04	 -	 -

8	 Dato’ Syed Abdul Rahman Bin 	 -	 -	 -	 -
	   Syed Abdul Kadir	

9	 Dato’ Mohamad Suparadi 	 -	 -	 -	 -
	   Bin Md Noor	

10	 Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib	 -	 -	 -	 -

11	 Dato’ Noorazman Bin Abd Aziz	 -	 -	 -	 -

12	 Chan Feoi Chun	 1,800	 0.00	 -	 -

	T otal	 3,810,799	 8.16	 2,800,000	 6.01
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company 
will be held at The Auditorium, 1st Floor, Lot 8 & 9, IRIS Smart Technology Complex, 
Technology Park Malaysia, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 17 June, 
2009 at 11.00 a.m. to transact the following business:

AGENDA
Ordinary Business
1.	�T o receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December, 

2008 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.	

2.	�T o elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 86 and Article 93 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965:

	 Article 86 
	 (i)	Y ap Hock Eng
	 (ii)	 Eow Kwan Hoong
	 (iii)	 Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib

	 Article 93
	 (iv)  	 Chan Feoi Chun

3.	�T o consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions in accordance 
with Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965:

	 (i)	 “�THAT Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail, retiring pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies 
Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed a Director of the Company to hold the 
office until the next Annual General Meeting.”

	 (ii)	 “�THAT YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin, retiring 
pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-
appointed a Director of the Company to hold the office until the next Annual 
General Meeting.”

4.	�T o approve the payment of Directors’ Fees amounting to RM1,079,800 for the financial 
year ended 31 December, 2008.

	
5	�T o re-appoint Messrs Horwath as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 

to fix their remuneration.

Special Business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modifications, the following Ordinary 
Resolutions:

(Please refer 
to Explanatory 

Note 1)

(Resolution 1)
(Resolution 2)
(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)
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6.	O RDINARY RESOLUTION 1

	 AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES
	 “�THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, the Directors of the 

Company be and are hereby empowered to issue shares in the Company at any time 
and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in 
their absolute discretion deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares issued 
pursuant to this resolution in any one financial year does not exceed 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company for the time being and that the Directors be and are also 
empowered to obtain approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares 
so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and that such authority shall continue 
to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting.”

7.	O RDINARY RESOLUTION 2

	� SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A 
REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE INVOLVING THE ICB GROUP AND MCS MICROSYSTEMS 
SDN BHD

	� “THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”), the Memorandum & Articles of 
Association of the Company and the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad for the MESDAQ Market, approval be and is hereby given for the Group to enter 
into recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature with MCS Microsystems Sdn 
Bhd as set out in Section 2.2 of the Circular to shareholders which are necessary for its 
day-to-day operations:

	��TH AT the Company and its subsidiaries be and are hereby authorised to enter into the 
recurrent transactions with the related parties mentioned therein provided that;

	 a)  �the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms not more 
favourable to the related party than those generally available to the public and not 
detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company; and

	 b)	� disclosure is made in the annual report of the breakdown of the aggregate value of 
the transactions conducted during the financial year, including details of the type of 
transactions, the names of the related parties involved, and their relationship with the  
Company where:

		  (1)	  �the consideration, value of the assets, capital outlay or costs of the aggregate 
transactions is equal to or exceeds RM1 million; or

		  (2) 	� any one of the percentage ratios of such aggregated transactions is equal to 
or exceeds 1%;  

			   whichever is lower.

(Resolution 9)

(resolution 10)



7.	O RDINARY RESOLUTION 2 (CONT’D)
	TH AT such approval shall continue to be in force until:

	 (i)	� the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following 
the forthcoming AGM, at which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at 
the said AGM, such authority is renewed;

	 (ii)	� the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held 
pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Act (but shall not extend to such extension as 
may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or 

	 (iii)	� revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting, 
whichever is earlier.

	� AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and 
do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) 
as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to this resolution.

8.	O RDINARY RESOLUTION 3

	� SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A 
REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE INVOLVING THE ICB GROUP AND VERSATILE PAPER 
BOXES SDN BHD

	� “THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”), the Memorandum & Articles of 
Association of the Company and the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad for the MESDAQ Market, approval be and is hereby given for the Group to enter 
into recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature with Versatile Paper Boxes Sdn 
Bhd as set out in Section 2.2 of the Circular to shareholders which are necessary for its 
day-to-day operations.

	�TH AT the Company and its subsidiaries be and are hereby authorised to enter into the 
recurrent transactions with the related parties mentioned therein provided that;

	 a)	� the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms not more 
favourable to the related party than those generally available to the public and not 
detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company; and
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(Resolution 11)

NOTES ON APPOINTMENT OF PROXY

(a)	� A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote, is entitled to appoint a proxy (or in the case of a corporation, to appoint a 
representative) to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 
149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

(b)	� A member shall be entitled to appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote at the same meeting, provided that the provisions of 
Section 149(1)(c) of the Act are complied with. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless 
he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

(c)	�T he Proxy Form must be signed by the appointor or his (her) attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, must 
be executed under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorized.

(d)	�T he instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified 
copy of that power or authority, shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Level 18, The Gardens North Tower, Mid 
Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or at 
any adjournment thereof. 
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	 b)	� disclosure is made in the annual report of the breakdown of the aggregate value of 
the transactions conducted during the financial year, including details of the type of 
transactions, the names of the related parties involved, and their relationship with 
the Company where:

		  (1)	  �the consideration, value of the assets, capital outlay or costs of the aggregate 
transactions is equal to or exceeds RM1 million; or

		  (2) 	� any one of the percentage ratios of such aggregated transactions is equal to 
or exceeds 1%; 

 			   whichever is lower.

	 AND THAT the authority shall continue to be in force until:

	 (i)	� the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following 
the forthcoming AGM, at which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at 
the said AGM, such authority is renewed; or

	 (ii)	� the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held 
pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Act (but shall not extend to such extension as 
may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or 

	 (iii)	� revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting, 
whichever is earlier.

	� AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and 
do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) 
as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to this resolution.”

By Order of the Board

NG YEN HOONG (LS 008016)
Company Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
25 May, 2009

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS 

(i)	� Item 1 of Agenda – This item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 does not require 
a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda is not put forward for voting.

(ii)	�T he proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue new ordinary shares up to an amount 
not exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for such purposes as the Directors consider would be in the interest of 
the Company. This authority will commence from the date of this Annual General Meeting and unless revoked or varied by the Company 
at a general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

(iii)	�T he proposed Ordinary Resolutions 10 and 11, if passed, will empower the Company to conduct transactions of a revenue or trading 
nature with parties related to the Company. Please refer to the Circular to Shareholders for more information. 



statement accompanying 
notice of fifteenth annual general meeting
(Pursuant to Rule 8.36(2) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for 

Mesdaq Market)

Details of Directors who are standing for re-election under Agenda 2 of the Notice of the Fifteenth Annual General Meeting 
are set out in the Profile of Directors on page 20 to page 25 of the Annual Report. 
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	 Number of shares held	 CDS Account No.

I/ We ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
			                                                           	(full name in block letters)

NRIC No./Company No._________________________________________________ of _____________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
			                                                           	                        (full address)

being a member/members of IRIS Corporation Berhad hereby appoint ___________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________ NRIC No.___________________________________________________________
(full name in block letters)

of ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
			                                                           	                        (full address)

or failing him/her, _________________________________________________________________ NRIC No.____________________________________________
                                          (full name in block letters)

of ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
			                                                           	                        (full address)

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Fifteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
on 17 June 2009 at 11.00a.m, and at any adjournment thereof and to vote as indicated below:

No	R esolution	 For	A gainst

1	� Re-election of Yap Hock Eng

2	 Re-election of Eow Kwan Hoong

3	 Re-election of Datuk Kamaruddin Bin Taib

4	 Re-election of Chan Feoi Chun

5	 Re-election of YAM Tunku Dato’ Seri Shahabuddin Bin Tunku Besar Burhanuddin

6	 Re-election of Tan Sri Razali Bin Ismail

7	T o approve the payment of Directors’ Fees

8	�T o re-appoint Messrs Horwath as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 
to fix their remuneration

9	� Approval for the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies 
Act, 1965

10	� Approval for the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent transactions of 
a revenue or trading nature with MCS Microsystems Sdn Bhd

11	� Approval for the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent transactions of 
a revenue or trading nature with Versatile Paper Boxes Sdn Bhd	

Please indicate with an “X” in the respective box of the resolution. Unless voting instructions are indicated in the space 
above, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.

Notes:
1.	� A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote, is entitled to appoint a proxy (or in the case 

of a corporation, to appoint a representative) to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need 
not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 
1965 shall not apply to the Company.

2.	� A member shall be entitled to appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote at the same 
meeting, provided that the provisions of Section 149(1)(c) of the Act are complied with. Where a 
member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the 
proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

3.	�T he proxy form must be signed by the appointer or his attorney duly authorized in writing or in the 
case of a corporation, executed under its common seal or attorney duly authorized in that behalf.

4.	� All proxy forms must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Level 18, The 
Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur not less than 
forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting.

Signed this ______________________ day 

of ________________________  2009

_____________________________________
Signature of member / Common Seal



the company secretary

IRIS Corporation Berhad
Level 18
The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur

affix
postage

here

fold here

fold here




